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We cannot hide our satisfaction at the rapid turnaround that has taken us from a
substantial loss in 2001 to a profit of Euro 1,876m in 2002, and this after booking Euro
4,796m of goodwill on O&KA, as detailed in the report.
However, this is not the time to indulge in back-slapping over the positive outcome to
an effective restructuring drive; rather, we must focus now on the many things still to be
done in order to lend renewed vigour to the group and achieve a rate of growth more
consistent with our expectations. First, we must address the ongoing areas of weakness,
notably Germany and Poland, in order to extirpate the negative factors that impacted
on the 2002 results. And, once the entire system has been turned around - we hope in
2003 - it is vital to distil the globalisation strategies (which we clearly cannot abandon)
into a more targeted definition of our mission, accompanied by a more concrete plan of
action. This will allow us to capitalise more effectively on the opportunities arising from
our regional positioning and the experience gained at the various sites. Account must
also be taken of the fact that the economic crisis, which has now spread to every region
of the planet and every sector, will in our view engender new growth scenarios that, in
turn, will call for business strategies predicated on the adoption of technologies and
operating models designed to enhance competitiveness at the global level. 
It is also with a view to facilitating these vital transformations that a new CEO has been
in place since the start of the year. His task is both to accelerate the restructuring
actions under way (the impact of which on our income statement will soon materialise)
and to design and execute a business plan that responds to the group’s growth
aspirations. The outline plan already on the table organises the production side into
three business areas: “Drivelines”, central to the current core business, “Drives”,
focusing primarily on developing the reduction units line inherited from O&KA, and
“Components”, whose task will be to expand the marketing of parts, starting with gears
(SIAP). Stemming from this is the remodelling of the organisation chart which, via the
effective coordination of the various production units, clearly commits each site to the
achievement of results. Reporting directly to the CEO, through the various function
heads, are Finance and Control, Research and Engineering, Marketing, Human
Resources, Industrial Strategy and Technologies, the internationalisation of Procurement
and the development of Information Technology. 
The emphasis I have placed, albeit very briefly, on the business plan now being
implemented is intended to underscore the urgency of our modernisation efforts which,
on the back of the internationalisation drive of recent years, must ensure a rational and
effective group production structure. And that’s not all. The innovatory flair that is
Carraro’s abiding legacy must be fostered by a more robust research commitment,
within an organisation that, equipped with more resources, structures itself into a
dynamic model ensuring fruitful interactions between the existing competencies
identifiable in our various areas of operation. It is this concept of modernisation that
provides the foundation for the industry of the future, without losing sight of the
ineluctable economic paradigm whereby growth is driven by innovation, but continuity
is assured only by results. As, indeed, the events we are experiencing unequivocally
remind us.
On this journey we must of course hope for an improvement in the general economic
conditions, which continue to be influenced by exogenous factors. First the war in Iraq
(thankfully brief), then the emergence in China of Sars (Severe Acute Respiratory
Syndrome). Events which for now seem to be delaying, rather than undermining, a
recovery that should not be far off, although it may be less vigorous than hoped for. And
whilst the recovery will clearly help us towards our goals, these can only be attained
through the actions now being undertaken. In respect of which I know I can count on
the active contribution of everyone engaged with the Carraro community.

Mario Carraro
Chairman
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Financial Highlights

Carraro SpA 2002 2001
Net sales 273,093 265,752
Operating profit (adjusted due to exchange rate differences) 15,227 12,817
Net result -8,972 -17,147
Shareholders’ equity 43,066 52,037
Cash flow 1,631 -5,351
Return on Equity -17.24% -24.78%
Return on Investments 5.80% 4.06%
Staff (year end date) 853 959
R&D expenses on sales 2.33% 3.07%
Gross investments 11,073 8,487

Consolidated 2002 2001
Net sales 381,059 385,623
Operating profit (adjusted due to exchange rate differences) 13,539 9,177
Net result (net of minorities) 1,876 -22,758
Shareholders’ equity (net of minorities) 50,564 61,524
Cash flow 32,693 4,020
Return on Equity 3.85% -27.00%
Return on Investments 3.53% 2.08%
Staff (year end date) 2,101 2,187
R&D expenses on sales 2.17% 2.59%
Gross investments 18,615 18,266
Amounts in thousand Euro
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2001

265,752

Carraro Spa net sales
in thousand Euro

2002

273,093

2001

12,817

Carraro Spa operating profit
in thousand Euro

2002

15,227

2000
3,529

2001
-17,147

Carraro Spa net profit
in thousand Euro

2002
-8,972

Carraro Spa Financial Statements
Charts

2000 
pro-forma
285,459

2000
pro-forma
17,338
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Carraro Spa net sales
Breakdown by main destination markets
Total Exports 77.8%

North America
25.9%

Germany
4.1%

Brazil
1.2%

France
14.6%

Italy
22.2%

UK
13.3%

Others
10.2%

Czech Rep.
1.9%

Austria
6.6%

Carraro Spa net sales
Breakdown by product line

Agricultural 
and construction
equipment axles
64.6%

Gears 
0.2%

Agricultural transmissions
0.5%

Power shuttle transmissions
7.2%

Spare parts 
6.9%

Other
9.9%

Axles for on-highway vehicles
and industrial forklifts
8.2%

Clutches
0.6%

Cam phaser devices
1.9%

2000
992

2001
959

Carraro Spa staff trend and breakdown
as at year end date

31%
White-collar
and managers

32%

2002
853

30%

70%

69%
Blue-collar

68%
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Consolidated Financial Statements
Charts

2000
378,825

2001
385,623

2002
381,059

Consolidated net sales
in thousand Euro

2000
16,977

2001
9,177

2002
13,539

Consolidated operating profit 
in thousand Euro

2000
2,934

2001
-22,758

2002
1,876

Consolidated net profit
(net of minorities)
in thousand Euro
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Consolidated net sales
Breakdown by main destination markets
Total Exports 76.4%

Consolidated net sales 
Breakdown by product line

Agricultural 
and construction
equipment axles
54.6%

Clutches
0.4%

Final and swing drives 
4.9%

Drive systems for escalators
1.6%

Cam phaser devices
1.4%

Agricultural transmissions
3.8%

Gears
6.4%

Other
7.1%

Axles for on-highway vehicles 
and industrial forklifts

8.8%

Power shuttle transmissions
5.1%

Spare parts
5.9%

Consolidated net sales 
Breakdown by area of application

Construction
equipment 
36.6%

Agricultural applications
36.5%

Others
8.7%

Material handling
6.7%

Automotive
3.5%

Drive systems for escalators
and gears

8%

UK
9.7%

Germany
13.5%

France
10.5%

Poland
1.5%

Others extra UE
2.1%

Others area UE
8.6%

South Korea
2.5%

India
3.6%

South America
5.9%

North America
22.1%

Italy
20%
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2000
28,606

2001
4,020

2002
32,693

Consolidated cash flow 
in thousand Euro

2000
119,744

2001
125,504

2002
117,264

Consolidated net financial position
(debit)
in thousand Euro

Consolidated balance sheet structure
in thousand Euro

allocations

31.12.2000

sources allocations

31.12.2002

sources

net cash

available
12,540

current assets

79,712

fixed assets

145,832

shareholders’ equity

91,701

staff leaving indemnity
14,098

medium/long term payables
57,583

short term payables
74,702

net cash

available
74,784

current assets
78,640

fixed assets
105,747

shareholders’ equity
52,940

staff leaving indemnity
14,183

medium/long term payables
113,415

short term payables
78,333

allocations

31.12.2001

sources

net cash

available
103,391

current assets
78,954

fixed assets
127,383

shareholders’ equity
66,249

staff leaving indemnity
14,584

medium/long term payables
121,265

short term payables
107,630
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Blue-collar 
including

temporary workers
74%

2000
33,617

2001
18,266

2002
18,615

Gross investments
(including disposal-related revenues)
in thousand Euro

2000
8,326

2001
9,996

2002
8,254

R&D expenses
in thousand Euro

2000
2,474

2001
2,187

2002
2,101

Carraro Group staff trend and breakdown
as at year end date
(companies included in consolidation area)

White-collar
and managers

26%

27%

73%

25%

75%
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Income statement: reclassified

Carraro SpA 2002 2001
Sales 273,093 265,752
Cost of sales -218,253 -213,189
General, administrative, commercial and R&D costs -39,613 -39,746
Operating profit 15,227 12,817

Incomes/(Write-downs) from equity investments -16,484 -27,254
Net financial (Expenses)/Incomes -3,191 -4,828
Extraordinary (Expenses)/Incomes 836 -3,191
Income before taxes -3,612 -22,456

Income taxes -5,360 5,309
Net income for the year -8,972 -17,147

Consolidated 2002 2001
Sales 381,059 385,623
Cost of sales -299,996 -314,977
General, administrative, commercial and R&D costs -67,524 -61,469
Operating profit 13,539 9,177

Incomes/(Write-downs) from equity investments -140 -1,696
Net financial (Expenses)/Incomes -7,197 -31,621
Extraordinary (Expenses)/Incomes -1,445 -5,277
Income before taxes 4,757 -29,417

Income taxes -3,629 5,801
Minority interests 748 858
Net income for the year 1,876 -22,758
Amounts in thousand Euro
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Balance sheet: reclassified

Carraro SpA 2002 2001
Intangible fixed assets 4,790 4,543
Tangible fixed assets 34,230 35,816
Financial fixed assets (shares) 55,251 50,513
Net fixed assets 94,271 90,872
Inventories 36,148 33,022
Short term assets 86,750 118,013
Medium/long term assets 200 211
Short term financial assets and cash 44,058 72,473
Medium/long term financial assets 1,044 1,049
Total assets 262,471 315,640

Net worth 43,066 52,037
Provision for contingencies and obligations 4,136 20,168
Staff leaving indemnity provision 10,884 11,490
Short term liabilities 80,057 79,473
Medium/long term liabilities 104 572
Short term financial liabilities 62,641 87,329
Medium/long term financial liabilities 61,583 64,571
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 262,471 315,640

Consolidated 2002 2001
Intangible fixed assets 11,060 20,593
Tangible fixed assets 97,045 117,652
Financial fixed assets (shares) 9,681 9,562
Net fixed assets 117,786 147,807
Inventories 67,135 64,709
Short term assets 115,286 116,748
Medium/long term assets 3,925 3,039
Short term financial assets and cash 73,415 103,228
Medium/long term financial assets 6,490 6,388
Total assets 384,037 441,919

Total Group net worth 50,564 61,524
Minorities 2,376 4,725
Provision for contingencies and obligations 13,279 20,152
Staff leaving indemnity provision 14,183 14,584
Short term liabilities 101,328 100,050
Medium/long term liabilities 5,138 5,764
Short term financial liabilities 83,128 113,255
Short term financial liabilities for leasing 514 503
Medium/long term financial liabilities 113,086 120,092
Medium/long term financial liabilities for leasing 441 1,270
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 384,037 441,919
Amounts in thousand Euro
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When we commented in our last report on the result of operations for the year 2002,
the worst year in the history of Carraro, we indicated the main lines of a
restructuring plan aimed at turning round the group’s operations. We did not,
perhaps, dare to hope for such a swift turnaround, from a loss of over Euro 22m
(reflecting the severely adverse impact of the result of operations in Argentina) to
profit in only one year. We also wish to note right away that the amount of Euro
1.876m does not reflect the extent of our effort, adversely influenced by the difficult
prospects of our German subsidiary O&KA, which after a year full of problems now
faces a business plan where profit forecasts are lower than previously estimated,
because of the difficult situation of its top customer. This led to a severe impairment
of goodwill, written down to Euro 5m, with an adverse impact on the result of
operations for an amount of Euro 4.796m, an amount that would have made the
consolidated profit of the group for the year ended 31 December 2002 much more
significant. It is necessary to add that the consolidated financial statements we are
examining also include additional accruals for completing the restructuring
processes in Germany and Poland. In contrast, a very positive contribution came
from Carraro Argentina, where the strong currency devaluation at the beginning of
the year made local output, in our case fully destined for export, newly competitive.
On the other hand, the forecast recovery of the economy, supported by many
indicators in early 2002, failed to materialise in the second half of the year. In light of
these circumstances we cannot but be satisfied with the transition, while not relaxing
our control, but rather accelerating the change processes mentioned on previous
occasions, which alone can support a sound growth policy.
If the measures taken since the start of the crisis have proved effective in securing a
turnaround, it is from their completion and from a more precise strategic focus of
the mission of all the group’s manufacturing units around the world that we expect
evidence of a new period of growth. This is in line with the change of scenario that
we expect from what has been the most prolonged and most complex (affecting all
areas and all segments worldwide and at the same time) economic crisis of the post-
WWII period. Hence the need for new strategies that through the use of currently
available management and communications techniques can render the integration of
the operations of Carraro in the various continents concrete and profitable. After the
indispensable globalisation process, which has not always been easy and rational,
also because in some instances it has been connected to exchanges of business with
customers that sometimes turned out to be disappointing, the time has come (again,
in a more accurate definition of production missions) to make active the network of
existing competencies while at the same time taking advantage of the opportunities
afforded by the geographical position of the various manufacturing sites.
Consequently, hereby re-defining the related marketing strategies, aiming more
forcefully at developing new products from research or acquisitions.
These aspects had been tackled previously, when we started industrial actions in
conjunction with the crisis recorded in the last two years. On these we feel the need
for a larger commitment in terms of analyses and shorter timeframes. This is
underpinned by a review of the manufacturing map and, consequently, of the
organisation structure. Also to this end we have appointed a managing director who,
besides driving the optimisation of the present structure from the management
perspective, also has the task, jointly with the chairman, of redesigning the entire
organisation of the group, putting us in a position to exploit certainly existing
potential to the full, with a technological extension of the product range and quicker
growth in new market areas. We are thinking of a streamlined structure, equipped
with the most advanced management methodologies, capable of moving with new
dynamism also through technical and sales alliances, which are now an essential
part of a growth model in the segments in which we operate. Among these are the
segments of tractors and construction equipment (our core business) but also the
automotive segment, where we deserve a larger presence, and the segment of drives,
which are still far from expressing their full potential. 

Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December 2002
Report on operations
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In our view, some of the actions we have described, in particular the reorganisation,
can produce benefits already in 2003, even though implementation will be
completed only in 2004. Benefits are certain to be reaped also regardless of the
general economic situation, which is difficult to forecast at present also because of
the uncertainty in international politics. It goes without saying that we cannot but
wish and rationally expect an improvement on such record lows, the more so since
recovery is an undisputed element of the economic cycle, the more foreseeable the
longer the depression is. However, the anomaly of the present economic
environment cannot but commit us to prudent and strict management, involving the
use of all the energies and competencies of those who operate within the group
towards an improvement which is anyway possible in fact. 
Of course, in the present scenario, it is fundamental that the prospected
transformations be compatible, and indeed they are, with the parallel effort to
improve the financial position of the group. It is not enough to record a decrease in
debt, which went from Euro 125.504m to Euro 117.264m in one year, and a
reduction in financial charges, also due to the fall in interest rates, from 2.88% to
1.92% of sales. The planned restructuring can have an effect on the group’s finances
by improving cash flow and optimising stocks, not to speak of our hope for a
decidedly greater improvement in results, towards which the measures described are
aimed. 
We really hope, following the commitment and will expressed by everyone, to be on
the verge of a new recovery. 

Sales
Sales of the group totalled Euro 381.059m, versus Euro 385.623m of 2001 
(-1.18%). The decline in sales volumes is entirely attributable to the downturn in
the reference markets of our largest customers, in particular in the construction
equipment segment.

EBIT
Consolidated EBIT rose to Euro 13.539m, 3.55% of sales, versus Euro 9.177m of
2001 (2.38% of sales). This is certainly a significant result, in spite of the effect of
a large impairment write-down of goodwill in O&K Antriebstechnik, for an amount
of Euro 7.915m, without which consolidated EBIT would have been equal to Euro
21.454m (5.63% of sales). We emphasise that this write-down became necessary
following a more prudent assessment of the forecast results of the German
subsidiary, which led us to estimate as Euro 5m the residual value of goodwill to
be amortised over the next five years. To the substantial improvement of EBIT
contributed the restructuring activities completed by the various entities of the
group, and the good performance of the Argentine subsidiary, generated by the
benefits of the devaluation of the Peso and by new productions started after the
industrial reorganisation.

Extraordinary items
During 2002 the group expensed extraordinary expenses of Euro 3m, relating for
an amount of Euro 2m to the completion of the restructuring plan of the German
subsidiary O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH.
Among extraordinary income was Euro 0.731m relating to the gain on disposal of
business of the manufacturing facility at Frassinoro (formerly Trenton S.r.l.).

Financial charges
Net financial charges, excluding exchange differences, amounted to Euro 7.323m,
versus Euro 11.101m in 2001, equal to 1.92% of sales (2.88% in 2001). The
decrease is attributable, in addition to a reduction of average indebtedness during
the year, also to a lower cost of debt. It should be noted that the high figure for
2001 was adversely affected by the high interest charges of the Argentine
subsidiary.
The interest coverage calculated on EBITDA with reference to total net financial
charges including all exchange differences was 5.05, versus 6.63 of 30 June 2002
(1.16 of 31 December 2001).
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Result of operations
The year 2002 closed with net profit of Euro 1.876m, heavily affected by the
impairment of goodwill of O&K Antriebstechnik mentioned above, for an amount
of Euro 4.796m.
This result compares with the loss reported for the year ended 31 December
2001, equal to Euro 22.758m which, we note, included extraordinary losses of
Euro 16.401m that were mainly due to the heavy losses of Carraro Argentina
following the depreciation of the Peso.

Depreciation/amortisation
Depreciation/amortisation was recorded for Euro 22.817m, down on Euro
27.636m of 2001. The decrease is mainly attributable to the translation of the
corresponding item in the accounts of the Argentine subsidiary, affected by the
devaluation of the Peso.

Cash-flow
Net cash inflow was equal to Euro 32.693m, up on Euro 4.020m as at 31.12.2001.

Capital expenditure
Capital expenditure, equal to Euro 18.615m, was almost unchanged compared to
the previous year (Euro 18.266m) and relates mainly to the purchase of assets to
improve production efficiency and the launch of new products.

Research and innovation
In 2002 research and innovation costs were expensed for an amount of Euro
8.254m, equal to 2.2% of sales (Euro 9.996m, or 2.6% of sales, in 2001).

Net financial position
Thanks to cash generated, the net financial position as at 31 December 2002
(debt of Euro 117.264m) improved on the Euro 125.504m debt of 31 December
2001 (Euro 121,133m debt as at 30 June 2002).
Following the reduction of consolidated net equity from Euro 66.249m to Euro
52.940m, due to the lower carrying value of Carraro Argentina, resulting from
effect of the translation of the Peso into Euro that was not offset by an adjustment
for inflation due to the limits imposed by international accounting principles,
gearing stood at 221.5%, vs. 189.44% as at 31 December 2001 (215.78% as at
30 June 2002).
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Segment analysis
Sales
The breakdown of sales by market shows the same balance as in 2001, evidencing
a substantial overall stability in the main off-highway and on-highway segments.
The schedules below detail sales by segment and by product line.

Breakdown by market/segment 
Amounts in millions of Euro

Segment 31.12.2002 % 31.12.2001 % difference %

Off-Highway: 278.711 73.1 278.768 72.3 0.0
Agriculture 139.070 36.5 119.710 31.0 +16.2
Construction equipment 139.641 36.6 159.058 41.2 -12.2

On-Highway: 62.857 16.5 59.780 15.5 +5.1
Material handling 25.410 6.7 25.066 6.5 +1.4
Passenger cars & Commercial vehicles 13.244 3.5 14.768 3.8 -10.3
Gears 24.203 6.4 19.946 5.2 +21.3

Stationary 6.152 1.6 7.103 1.8 -13.4
Spare parts 22.357 5.9 24.870 6.4 -10.1
Other 10.982 2.9 15.102 3.9 -27.3
Total 381.059 385.623 -1.18

Breakdown by product line 
Amounts in millions of Euro

Product line 31.12.2002 % 31.12.2001 % difference %

Traditional axles (AG + CE) 208.090 54.6 205.472 53.3 +1.3
Axles for light commercial vehicles 
and forklifts 33.347 8.8 33.401 8.7 -0.2
AG transaxles 14.544 3.8 8.153 2.1 +78.4
CE transmissions 19.561 5.1 21.943 5.7 -10.9
Gears 24.203 6.4 19.946 5.2 +21.3
Cam phaser devices 5.285 1.4 5.665 1.5 -6.7
Clutches 1.644 0.4 2.118 0.5 -22.4
Spare parts 22.357 5.9 24.870 6.4 -10.1
Final & swing drives 18.646 4.9 23.967 6.2 -22.2
Drive systems for escalators 6.152 1.6 7.103 1.8 -13.4
Other 27.230 7.1 32.985 8.6 -17.5
Total 381.059 385.623

In the off-highway sector, sales in the construction equipment market declined by
12.2% mainly because of the recession in North America and in European
markets, particularly in Germany.
The agriculture market, in contrast, confirmed its characteristic of beating the
conjuncture, recording sales growth of 16.2%. In Europe, after the serious
difficulties of 2001 when sales fell by 13% because of the effects of foot and
mouth and “mad cow” disease, a new propensity to invest was seen, also as a
result of recent EU-wide agreements concerning agriculture.
In Brazil, the agriculture market is going through a particularly favourable phase,
related to renewed “Moderna Flota” financing, which generated a positive effect on
sales of Carraro Argentina in this segment.
A breakdown by product line shows that the negative trend of the backhoe-loaders
segment had a double effect on sales both as concerns axles, offset by the growth
in the agricultural segment, and as concerns CE transmissions. The negative trend
in the segment of excavators and road maintenance vehicles led to a reduction of
sales of final and swing drives, down 22.2% on 2001.
Sales of agricultural transaxles increased markedly in the Indian market, which
shows a slight recovery on 2001, driven by increased exports from Indian OEMs
mostly to the North American market.
In the on-highway sector, sales in the material handling segment, in spite of a
shrinking market, remained essentially unchanged thanks to new customers and
new projects.
Sales in the passenger cars and commercial vehicles segment declined due to the
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effect of the crisis in that market. In particular, sales of cam phaser devices fell by
6.7%, both because of the international crisis and because of the difficulties of
Fiat, the top customer in this product line.
Sales of gears rose by 21.3% thanks to the entry of new customers and larger
penetration of existing customers.
The decline in sales of drive systems for escalators was due to the change in sales
mix requested by the top customer, whereas the share of the market remained
unchanged.

Breakdown of sales by geographical area
% of sales

Geographical area 31.12.2002 % 31.12.2001 % differenza %

North America 84.377 22.14 94.071 24.39 -10.30
Germany 51.340 13.47 62.702 16.26 -18.12
Great Britain 36.898 9.68 33.351 8.65 +10.64
France 39.998 10.50 49.536 12.85 -19.25
South Korea 9.577 2.51 13.226 3.43 -27.59
Poland 5.698 1.50 5.721 1.48 -0.40
South America 22.392 5.88 22.176 5.75 +0.97
India 13.586 3.57 3.177 0.82 +327.64
Other non-EU 8.052 2.11 6.799 1.76 +18.43
Other EU 32.846 8.62 26.646 6.91 +23.27
Total Foreign sales 304.764 79.98 317.405 82.31 -3.98
Italy 76.295 20.02 68.218 17.69 +11.84
Total 381.059 385.623

The breakdown of sales of Carraro group by geographical area reflects the decline
of the construction equipment segment in North America and Germany and that
of the material handling segment in the USA and Korea.
The 10.64% growth of sales to Great Britain is related to the favourable
performance of the agricultural segment.
It is necessary to note the large increase of the share of the Indian market due to
growing sales of agricultural transaxles.

Personnel
Personnel employed at group companies (including short-term workers,
apprentices and temporary workers), numbered 2,101 as at 31 December 2002
(33 executives, 481 clerks and 1,587 workers), versus 2,187 as at 31 December
2001.
The aggregate total continued to decline compared to the previous year end, in
spite of the presence in 2002 of a significant number of term and temporary
workers, hired to face growing volumes, in particular at Italian manufacturing
facilities and in Argentina.
The reduction achieved is the result of the restructuring and reorganisation
process started in 2001, which in 2002 focused in particular on Italy and
Germany.
After the measures already taken, which were aimed at ensuring a balance of
overheads and performance, a process has been started that will become fully
effective in the course of 2003, for recognising and developing the knowledge and
specific competencies owned by the resources of the group, indispensable to
support the growth and consolidation plans.
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Research and innovation 
Research and innovation activities continued in the implementation of the Market
and Product Development Plan. In particular, during 2002, with the aim of
strengthening market share in the traditional business segments, activities
continued for the development of new ranges of non-driving and driving axles for
AG tractors, backhoe loaders, compact and small wheel loaders and
counterbalanced forklifts with IC engine. Moreover, development is under way
regarding transmissions with advanced functionality for tractors of up to 90 Hp
and for backhoe loaders. Finally, in co-design with a leading OEM, development of
a new range of suspended axles with high vehicle integration for high-range AG
tractors has started. All these projects provide that serial manufacture of the
products will start in 2003, supporting the supply agreements entered into or
being finalised with the largest OEMs.
Particularly significant during the year were the launches of new axles for AG
tractors, compact and small wheel loaders, soil compactors and off-highway
forklifts, of the new range of material handling drivers in the “warehousing”
segment, of the new TC transmission for backhoe loaders and, finally, of the new
range of axles for wheel excavators, the latter in co-operation with the development
platform of the subsidiary O&KA.

Special events in 2002
On 10 February 2002 the judgment handed down by the Regional Court of Brno
and relating to the definition of the bankruptcy proceedings of Zetor a.s., a
historical customer of Carraro’s, became final. As a result of the proceedings,
Carraro was able to recover an amount of Euro 429,534.21, equal to about 30% of
the balance owed by Zetor. The remaining 70% did not have any impact on the
income statement of the period under consideration because accruals to the bad
debt provision had already been made for the account in the past.
On 28 March 2002 Carraro signed an agreement with Meccanica Fananese S.r.l.
for the sale of the business relating to the manufacturing facility at Frassinoro,
Modena (formerly Trenton S.r.l.), specialising in the manufacture of components
for automotive systems (differential housings, wheel shafts and drive shafts). The
operation was worth a total of Euro 2.51m, comprising tangible assets, contracts
and amounts payable to and receivable from employees, with a net effect on the
result for the period of the holding company equal to Euro 0.537m. The operation,
effective as from 1 May 2002, also involved a supply agreement and an agreement
for the sale of know-how with Meccanica Fananese S.r.l..
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Performance of consolidated companies
We report herebelow the most significant financial information referred to
operations of the entities of Carraro group.

Carraro S.p.A.
The holding company made sales of Euro 273.093m, up 2.76% on Euro 265.752m
of 2001. The increase was achieved through larger volumes of traditional axles, in
particular in the agriculture segment (+24.4%) and of axles for light commercial
vehicles and forklifts (+33.07%).
Exports accounted for 77.8% of total sales, versus 78.5% in 2001. The main markets
are the USA with 22.8% (25.7% in 2001) and the European Union (excluding Italy)
with 41.1% (42.7% in 2001).
As a result of growing sales volumes and cost cutting policies, EBIT of 2002 was
equal to Euro 15.227m (5.58% of sales), having risen by 18.8% on Euro 12.817m
(4.82% of sales) of 2001.
Net financial charges after exchange differences and hedging costs amounted to
Euro 4.310m (1.58% of sales), versus Euro 3.755m (1.41% of sales) of the previous
year.
In order to adjust the carrying values of equity interests in certain subsidiaries to
corresponding net equity values after the losses incurred in 2002 and prior years,
the following impairment write-downs were recorded:

Legal name Euro/000

Carraro Deutschland GmbH 12,148
Carraro India Ltd. 1,680
Carraro International S.A. 2,132
F.O.N. S.A. 512
Amounts in thousand Euro

This necessarily affected the result of operations. After extraordinary income of Euro
0.836m (vs. extraordinary losses of Euro 3.191m in 2001) mainly referred to the
gain on disposal of the business of the manufacturing facility at Frassinoro (formerly
Trenton S.r.l.) and after net current and deferred taxes of Euro 5.360m, Carraro S.p.A.
closed the year 2002 with a loss of Euro 8.972m, versus a loss of Euro 17.147m
reported in 2001.
Depreciation/amortisation, equal to Euro 10.603m, was substantially in line with
Euro 11.796m of 2001.
This resulted in a net cash inflow of Euro 1.631m, versus a net cash outflow of Euro
5.351m in 2001.
Gross capital expenditure in 2002 totalled Euro 11.073m, versus Euro 8.487m in
2001, and related to the purchase of assets necessary to start new productions.
The net financial position as at 31 December 2002, debt of Euro 79.122m, improved
on debt of Euro 83.360m as at 30 June 2002 (Euro 78.680m as at 31 December
2001).
The headcount as at 31 December 2002, including temporary workers, was 853
(863 as at 30 June 2002), versus a figure of 959 as at 31 December 2001 that
included the 55 employees of the former Trenton S.r.l. business sold off in 2002.

Turnover Turnover Employees at Employees at
2002 2001 31.12.2002 31.12.2001

Carraro 273,093 265,752 853 959
SIAP 55,477 49,318 390 370
Carraro North America 4,295 25,339 13 12
Carraro Korea 9,338 12,818 20 26
Carraro Argentina 29,658 26,933 211 159
Carraro India 15,073 6,712 121 92
FON 5,823 6,046 258 280
O&K Antriebstechnik 42,217 52,037 235 289
Total 434,974 * 444,955 * 2,101 2,187

*Aggregated Turnover

Amounts in thousand Euro
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Siap S.p.A.
Thanks to a favourable trend of demand, in particular from third party customers,
sales of 2002 reached Euro 55.477m, up 12.49% on Euro 49.318m of 2001.
EBIT was equal to Euro 2.886m (5.2% of sales), versus Euro 1.563m (3.17% of
sales) in 2001.
Net financial charges of 2002 were equal to Euro 0.771m (1.39% of sales), down
on 2001 (Euro 1.029m, or 2.09% of sales) due to a reduction of average
indebtedness during the year and the related cost.
The result of operations went from a loss of Euro 0.08m for 2001 to profit of Euro
0.829m for 2002.
Depreciation/amortisation was charged for Euro 5.433m, versus Euro 5.446m of
2001 which, together with the result of operations, generated a net cash inflow of
Euro 6.262m (Euro 5.366m in 2001).
Capital expenditure, equal to Euro 4.877m (Euro 4.115m in 2001), was made to
consolidate production capacity.
The net financial position as at 31 December 2002 was debt of Euro 16.515m, an
improvement on Euro 17.024m as at 30 June 2002 (Euro 20.931m as at 31
December 2001), mainly due to a reduction of working capital.
The headcount at the year end was equal to 390, versus 370 as at 31 December
2001 (394 as at 30 June 2002). The increase on the previous year was due to
growing business volumes.

Carraro India Ltd.
In 2002 sales grew by 124.57% on the previous year, to Euro 15.073m, versus
Euro 6.712m of 2001. This growth, already showing in the results for the first half
of 2002, was due to the start of production on new contracts, among which the
most important is that with Mahindra & Mahindra group.
This, thanks to growing sales, enabled the entity for the first time since it was
started up to report an operating profit of Euro 1.023m, equal to 6.79% of sales
(versus an operating loss of Euro 1.163m in 2001).
Unfortunately, this result was nullified by net financial charges of Euro 1.341m
(Euro 1.211m in 2001) and exchange losses of Euro 1.101m, almost entirely
referred to debts denominated in Euro, making it necessary to take urgent
measures to restructure the entity and rebalance the composition of debts.
The Indian entity therefore closed 2002 with a loss of Euro 1.419m (versus a loss
of Euro 1.755 for 2001).
Depreciation/amortisation was equal to Euro 1.218m, versus Euro 1.194m in
2001, giving a negative net cash outflow of Euro 0.201m (Euro 0.561m in 2001).
Capital expenditure, made solely to maintain production capacity, amounted to
Euro 0.442m (Euro 0.969m in 2001).
The net financial position as at 31 December 2002 was equal to Euro 12.502m
(Euro 13.342m as at 30 June 2002, Euro 14.868m as at 31 December 2001).
The headcount as at 31 December 2002 was 121 (116 as at 30 June 2002 and
92 as at 31 December 2001).

Carraro Argentina S.A.
The significant competitive advantage generated by the devaluation of the local
currency enabled the group to proceed, on more rational terms, to the industrial
reorganisation and to the start of new productions for export, and to recapitalise
the entity in order to ensure a financial balance.
Sales in 2002 totalled Euro 29.658m, versus Euro 26,933m in 2001, up 10.1%.
EBIT rose to Euro 7.468m, equal to an exceptional 25.18% of sales. In 2001 the
entity reported an operating loss of Euro 4.608m, 17.11% of sales.
Financial charges fell to Euro 0.191m (Euro 3.763m in 2001) and, with residual
exchange losses of Euro 4.395m (Euro 15.258m in 2001), the subsidiary closed
the year 2002 with profit of Euro 2.847m, versus the loss of Euro 23.761m
reported for 2001.
Depreciation/amortisation, equal to Euro 1.186m, was markedly lower than the
Euro 3.962m of 2001 as a result of the devaluation of the Peso.
Net cash inflow was equal to Euro 4.033m (vs. a net cash outflow of Euro
19.799m in 2001).
Capital expenditure of Euro 0.747m was made to support the restructuring plan
(Euro 1.936m in 2001).
The net financial position as at 31 December 2002 was assets of Euro 80.000,
versus Euro 0.923m as at 30 June 2002 (and versus debt of Euro 34.130m as at
31 December 2001).
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It should be noted that in February 2002 the loan of Euro 35.062m granted by
Carraro S.p.A. in previous years was converted into a capital contribution to cover
the losses incurred and to recapitalise the entity, and therefore the debt was waived.
The headcount as at 31 December 2002 was 211 (vs. 181 as at 30 June 2002,
159 as at 31 December 2001).

Fabryka Osi Napedowych S.A.
Sales for 2002 were equal to Euro 5.823m, down 3.69% on Euro 6.046m for
2001.
The fall in sales volumes was due to lower demand in the local market, still
characterised by a severe recession.
The consequent need to reduce the entity’s dependency on it led to the
implementation of a wider-ranging restructuring programme, aimed at increasing
the capacity to serve other markets. 
The entity made an operating loss of Euro 0.289m (4.96% of sales), versus Euro
0.158m (2.61% of sales) for 2001. Net financial charges after exchange
differences amounted to Euro 0.028m (versus net financial income of Euro
0.041m in 2001).
After extraordinary income of Euro 0.243m, whereof Euro 0.226m received from
the holding company to settle a dispute with former employees, F.O.N. S.A. closed
2002 with a net loss of Euro 0.345m (5.9% of sales), versus profit of Euro 11,000
(0.2% of sales) for 2001.
Depreciation/amortisation amounted to Euro 0.367m (Euro 0.344m in 2001).
The net cash flow was equal to Euro 0.022m (Euro 0.355m in 2001).
Capital expenditure amounted to Euro 1.227m (Euro 0.645m in 2001) and was
made to support the industrial reorganisation mentioned above.
The net financial position as at 31 December 2002 was debt of Euro 2.124m, vs.
Euro 2.463m as at 30 June 2002 (Euro 1.744m as at 31 December 2001).
The headcount as at 31 December 2002 was 258, down on 280 as at 31
December 2001 (265 as at 30 June 2002).

Carraro Deutschland GmbH
This entity is a financial holding company and owns 100% of O&K
Antriebstechnik GmbH.
The year 2002 closed with a loss of Euro 13.234m, including the write-down of
the carrying value of the subsidiary for an amount of Euro 13.034m, which
became necessary, as explained above, following a revised estimate of the
recoverable amount of goodwill, reduced to Euro 5m on the basis of updated
business plans for the next five years.

O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH
Sales in 2002 were equal to Euro 42.217m, down 18.87% on Euro 52.037m of
2001. The large fall in sales was mainly due to the severe crisis of the
Construction Equipment market, in all the main geographical areas and, more
generally, to the recession in the German market.
During 2002, restructuring and industrial reorganisation activities had an adverse
impact on productivity, and consequently on profitability, contributing to the
operating loss of Euro 0.625m, -1.48% of sales (versus EBIT of Euro 1.636m,
+3.14% of sales, in 2001).
Moreover, following the completion of the original restructuring plan started in
December 2001, additional extraordinary expenses totalling Euro 2m were
accounted for (Euro 1.302 as at 30 June 2002). As a consequence, the result for
the period was a net loss of Euro 3.013m (versus a loss of Euro 0.129m for 2001).
Together with depreciation/amortisation of Euro 1.102m (Euro 1.171m in 2001),
this gave a net cash outflow of Euro 1.042m (versus a net cash inflow of Euro
1.042m in 2001).
Capital expenditure totalled Euro 1.911m (Euro 1.254m in 2001).
The net financial position al 31 December 2002 was debt of Euro 2.271m (Euro
1.623m as at 30 June 2002 and Euro 0.994m as at 31 December 2001), due to
an increase in working capital.
The headcount as at 31 December 2002 was 235 (289 as at 31 December 2001,
271 as at 30 June 2002). The reduction was the consequence of the known
restructuring plan.
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Carraro International S.A.
This financial holding company closed 2002 with a loss of Euro 1.389m, including
the write-down of the carrying value of the equity interest in Carraro Korea for an
amount of Euro 0.643m.
The net financial position was debt of Euro 1.680m (debt of Euro 0.611m as at 31
December 2001, Euro 1.504 as at 30 June 2002).

Carraro North America Inc.
At the end of 2001, the entity curtailed its manufacturing operations as required
by the restructuring plan, in connection with a shrinking North American market,
and went back to operating mostly as a trading company.
As a consequence, sales for 2002 were equal to Euro 4.295m, a dramatic fall from
Euro 25.339m of 2001.
EBIT was an operating loss of Euro 0.554m, -12.90% of sales (versus Euro
0.588m, equal to 2.32% of sales in 2001). After net financial charges of Euro
0.112m (Euro 0.478m in 2001) and exchange gains of Euro 0.068m, the entity
reported a loss for the year of Euro 0.552m (vs. a loss of Euro 0.204 in 2001).
Depreciation/amortisation totalled Euro 0.639m (Euro 0.626 in 2001), giving a net
cash inflow of Euro 0.087m (Euro 0.422 in 2001).
No capital expenditure was made in 2002 (vs. Euro 0.820m in 2001).
The net financial position as at 31 December 2002 was debt of Euro 3.550m,
lower than the Euro 8.367m debt as at 31 December 2001.
The headcount at the year end was equal to 13 (12, both as at 30 June 2002 and
at 31 December 2001).

Carraro Korea Co. Ltd.
Due to the difficulties encountered by the largest customer, sales fell to Euro
9.338m, down 27.15% on Euro 12.818m of 2001.
This affected EBIT, giving an operating loss of Euro 0.331m, -5.55% of sales (vs.
profit of Euro 0.314m for 2001, +2.45% of sales) which includes an accrual to the
provision for bad debts of Euro 0.193m, set up because of the difficulties
encountered by the largest customer mentioned above.
In spite of a decrease in net financial charges, Euro 0.037m versus Euro 0.217m
of 2001, the entity closed 2002 with a net loss of Euro 0.419m, versus profit of
Euro 0.106m reported in 2001.
With depreciation/amortisation of Euro 0.213m, slightly lower than the Euro
0.285m of 2001, the entity had a net cash outflow of Euro 0.206m (versus a net
cash inflow of Euro 0.391m in 2001).
Capital expenditure totalled Euro 0.062m (Euro 0.121m in 2001).
The net financial position as at 31 December 2002 was assets of Euro 0.054m, a
marked improvement on debt of Euro 0.805m as at 30 June 2002 (Euro 0.168m
as at 31 December 2001) achieved through stringent measures to reduce working
capital.
The headcount as at 31 December 2002 was 20 (22 as at 30 June 2002, 26 as at
31 December 2001).

Share price trend
During 2002 Carraro shares traded at an average official price of Euro 1.3432. In
the first few months of the year the share price initially reverted the downward
trend of last year, reaching a high of Euro 1.816 on 25 March, falling then again
until 13 August, when it recorded the lowest price of the period: Euro 1.100. In the
latter part of the year the share price rose again to a high of Euro 1.512 on 5
December 2002.
During the first quarter of 2003 the share price was stable but declined slightly;
the lowest quotation in the period was Euro 1.287 on 17 March 2003.

Trend and forecast for 2003
In these final considerations, where we usually give some highlights on the
operations of the current year, we cannot but place emphasis on the war recently
started in Iraq, the outcome of which is certain but on whose duration it would be
inappropriate to make a forecast. We obviously hope that the war will be short,
first of all in light of the humanitarian consequences of the conflict, but also in the
hope of seeing the establishment of easier international relations, necessary to the
continuation of an era of growth that has found its distinctive motives in the
globalisation processes and where the role of the USA remains fundamental. 
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This is not the place to assess the economic consequences of the event, whose
effects depend, in turn, on its duration. At any rate, we do not fear important
consequences, particularly in segments, such as those where we operate, that have
already been heavily affected by the market downturn. There is rather more room
for improvement than the other way round. 
Forecasts for 2003, in spite of some volatility, remain of sales slightly above the
level of 2002, while we are confident of a better result of operations due to the
effect of the actions taken to improve productivity and margins. Our expectations
and our efforts, however, aim for decidedly higher levels. Hence the emphasis
placed on industrial reorganisation processes, with a general commitment to
working, effectively and through concrete actions, to solve the critical issues
identified, in order to ensure more adequate results and ratios. 
This is what we aim for, beyond a hoped for return to a more serene economic
environment capable of leading to a new cycle of recovery from which, with a
stronger structure, it will be easier for us to seize new opportunities for growth. 

Subsequent events
No significant events have occurred subsequent to the balance sheet date.

Campodarsego, March 27, 2003
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Transactions of Carraro S.p.A. Group with related parties during the year ended
31 December 2002
(as per Consob Communication DAC/98015375 dated 27 February 98) 

Financing Trading
Financing Financing Sales of Industrial Sales of Commissions Interest Purchases Purchases of Purchases Purchases Commissions Interest

receivables payables components, services other services and income of plant, components, of industrial of other and expense
goods and rendered and sundry royalties machinery goods and services services royalties

spare parts other receivable and spare parts miscellaneous payable
charges equipment charges

Associated companies
Agritalia S.p.A. 15,971 28 478 227 1,370 55 57 25
Stm S.r.l. 5,242 429 4 699 148 130 3,501 3 36 14
Elcon S.r.l. 103 58 3 38

Other related parties
Fonderie del Montello S.p.A. 1,033 109 44 1,367 19,991 2 7
Maus S.p.A. 44 194 34 155 4
Meccanica del Piave S.p.A. 704 46 30 1,798 1 13
Diffusione Europea S.p.A. 9
E.P.S. S.r.l.

Amounts in thousand Euro

Notes:
1. Financing
Financing transactions relate to short- and long-term loans. 

2. Trading
The major trading accounts relate to purchase and sale of raw materials, semi-
finished goods and components for the manufacture of automotive systems.
Purchases of services are mainly referred to manufacturing processes. Purchases
from Maus S.p.A. relate to the supply of specific machine tools with the related
spare parts and accessories.
Major sales of services relate to charges for the use of the central information
systems and for organisational support provided by the holding company in the
various operating areas. Commissions and royalties relate to specific agency
agreements and transfer of rights for the use of industrial know-how.
Interest income is generated from loans currently in place.









Assets 2002 2001

A) Share capital issued and not yet paid

B) Fixed assets

I. Intangible assets
1) Start-up and expansion costs 658,421 1,226,431
2) Research, development and advertising expenses 447,869 541,396
3) Industrial and other patent rights 227,672 224,594
4) Concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights 
and assets 1,361,658 1,697,650
5) Consolidation difference 5,000,000 14,331,716
6) Assets under construction and advances 1,402,207 241,512
7) Other intangible assets 1,962,136 2,329,898
Total intangible assets 11,059,963 20,593,197
II. Tangible assets
1) Land and buildings 33,526,623 39,895,450
2) Plants and machinery 44,107,057 55,538,434
3) Industrial and commercial equipment 11,953,073 14,256,338
4) Other assets 4,995,727 6,783,033
5) Assets under construction and advances 2,462,250 1,178,789
Total tangible assets 97,044,730 117,652,044
III. Financial assets
1) Equity interests:
a) in subsidiaries 589,646
b) in associated companies 4,369,009 3,699,831
c) in parent companies
d) in other companies 142,927 106,115
e) advances on equity interests
2) Receivables:
a) from subsidiaries
b) from associated companies
- falling due within one year
- falling due after more than one year 4,000,000 4,000,000
c) from parent companies
d) from others
- falling due within one year 1,147,017 7,054,124
- falling due after more than one year 5,807,923 992,484
3) Other securities 1,636 689
4) Own shares
Total Financial assets 16,058,158 15,853,243
Total fixed assets (B) 124,162,851 154,098,484

Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2002 
Balance Sheet 
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C) Current assets

2002 2001
I. Inventory
1) Raw, materials and consumables 34,716,115 34,815,971
2) Work in progress 21,424,296 18,855,537 
3) Contracted work in progress
4) Finished products and goods held for resale 10,496,383 10,537,488
5) Payments on account (advances) 498,089 499,982
Total Inventory 67,134,883 64,708,978 
II. Receivables:
1) Trade debtors
- falling due within one year 87,991,436 79,028,479
- falling due after more than within one year
2) Receivables from subsidiaries
- falling due within one year
- falling due after more than within one year
3) Receivables from associated companies
- falling due within one year 4,013,716 4,568,263
- falling due after more than within one year
4) Receivables from parent companies
- falling due within one year
- falling due after more than within one year
5) Other debtors
- falling due within one year 22,136,087 44,837,303
- falling due after more than within one year 3,937,014 3,016,565
Total receivables 118,078,253 131,450,610 
III. Short-term investments
1) Investments in subsidiaries
2) Investments in associated companies
3) Investments in parent companies
4) Other investments
5) Own shares
6) Other securities 53,988,813 68,422,724
Total short-term investments 53,988,813 68,422,724
IV. Cash and banks:
1) Bank and postal deposit 13,509,819 15,765,324
2) Cheques on hand 554,403 193,282
3) Cash in hand 53,337 38,779
Total cash and bank 14,117,559 15,997,385 
Total current assets (C) 253,319,508 280,579,697 

D) Accrued income and prepayments

- Accrued income 5,406,563 6,167,215
- Prepayments
- of amounts falling due within one year 1,046,706 954,904
- of amounts falling due after more than within one year 101,124 118,538
Total accrued income and prepayments (D) 6,554,393 7,240,657 
TOTAL ASSETS 384,036,752 441,918,838 
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Liabilities 2002 2001

A) Shareholders’ equity

I. Share capital 21,840,000 21,840,000 
II. Share premium reserve 17,833,456 17,833,456 
III. Revaluation reserve
IV. Legal reserve 3,120,088 3,120,088 
V. Reserve for own shares in portfolio
VI. Statutory reserves
VII. Other reserves
Extraordinary reserve 3,223,553 10,103,918
Reserve from accelerated depreciation 6,901,982 9,139,262
Reserve from extraordinary income as per art. 55 513,741 513,741
Reserve from translation difference - 10,650,023 4,336,750
Reserve from merger surplus 8,242,425
Other reserves 5,905,265 9,152,103
Total other reserves 5,894,518 41,488,199 
VIII - a) Profits/(Losses) carried forward
IX - b) Consolidated profit/(loss) for the period 1,875,957 - 22,757,899
Total net equity of the Group 50,564,019 61,523,844 
Minority interests in capital and reserves 3,123,896 5,583,385
Minority interests in profit/(loss) for the period - 747,822 - 858,343
Total shareholders’ equity 52,940,093 66,248,886 

B) Provisions for risks and charges

1) Provision for pensions and similar obligations 3,375,878 3,333,252
2) Provisions for taxes 317,360 2,104,604
3) Other provisions 9,586,150 14,713,952
Total provisions for risks and charges 13,279,388 20,151,808

C) Staff leaving indemnity (t.f.r.)
14,183,392 14,583,685 

D) Payables

1) Bonds and debenture loans 100,000,000 100,000,000
2) Convertible bonds and debenture loans
3) Bank loans and overdrafts
- falling due within one year 72,651,570 103,889,075
- falling due after more than one year 13,085,915 19,192,909
4) Other financing creditors
- falling due within one year 514,364 737,390
- falling due after more than one year 440,946 1,270,095
5) Payments on account (advances)
- falling due within one year 275,931 333,555
6) Trade creditors
- falling due within one year 86,699,294 79,374,345
- falling due after more than one year
7) Secured payables
- falling due within one year 236,885 424,646
- falling due after more than one year 100,103
8) Payables to subsidiaries
- falling due within one year
9) Payables to associated companies
- falling due within one year 1,997,217 1,140,416
10) Payables to parent companies
- falling due within one year 22,272 49,138
11) Tax payables
- falling due within one year 2,915,971 5,730,318
- falling due after more than one year
12) Social security payables
- falling due within one year 2,362,829 2,450,864
13) Other creditors
- falling due within one year 6,312,679 9,591,360 
- falling due after more than one year 5,138,096 6,563,395 
Total payables 292,653,969 330,847,609 
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E) Accrued expenses and deferred incomes

2002 2001
- Accrued expenses 10,631,157 10,060,849
- Deferred income
- falling due within one year 348,753 26,001
- falling due after more than one year
Total accrued expenses and deferred incomes (E) 10,979,910 10,086,850
TOTAL LIABILITIES 384,036,752 441,918,838

Memorandum accounts

Risks
- Guarantees given on behalf of third parties 13,910,595 55,169,330
- Securities deposited as guarantee on behalf of third parties 2,159,582 2,159,583 
Total risks 16,070,177 57,328,913

Commitments
- Commitments to repurchase equity interests 1,112,345 2,437,677 
- Other commitments 103,291 103,291 
Total commitments 1,215,636 2,540,968 
TOTAL RISKS AND COMMITMENTS 17,285,813 59,869,881 

Other memorandum accounts 
which do not reflect risks or commitments
- Guarantees received from third parties 2,843,658 1,032,913
- Mortgages 6,197,483 6,870,220
- Pledges on securities
- Guarantees given by third parties on behalf of Carraro 30,751,669 35,625,579
- Swaps on accounts payable
- Swaps on accounts receivable 36,825,274 49,368,139
- Interest Rate Swaps 165,329,138 110,329,138
- Forward Rate Agreements 155,000,000
- Foreign currency options 22,620,589 35,874,178
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Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2002 
Income Statement 

A) Value of production

2002 2001
1) Revenue from sales and services 381,059,268 385,623,156
2) Changes in stocks of work in progress
and finished goods 3,948,199 - 3,796,967
3) Changes in contracted work in progress
4) Own work capitalised 511,610 419,653 
5) Other income 4,460,241 4,912,194 
- Grants 52,319 788,122 
- Other 4,407,922 4,124,072 
Total value of production (A) 389,979,318 387,158,036 

B) Cost of production

6) Cost of raw materials, consumables, 
spare parts and other goods 210,839,610 197,287,134
7) Cost of services 64,299,891 66,213,242
8) Cost of utilisation of third parties' assets 1,430,782 1,392,326
9) Personnel costs:
a) Salaries and wages 45,741,519 52,128,664
b) Social contributions 13,825,245 15,996,736
c) Staff leaving indemnity (t.f.r.) 2,665,956 2,739,994
d) Pensions and similar obligations 411,001 528,324
e) Other costs 2.386,978 2,283,098
Total (9) 65,030,699 73,676,816
10) Depreciation and write-downs:
a) Amortisation of intangible assets 3,516,217 3,847,838
b) Depreciation of tangible assets 19,300,731 23,788,101
c) Other write-downs of assets 8,747,710
d) Write-downs of receivables  
included in current assets 1,390,501 609,764
Total (10) 32,955,159 28,245,703
11) Changes in stocks of raw materials,
consumables, spare parts and other goods - 3,395,242 5,523,907
12) Accruals for contingencies 392,044 218,472
13) Other accruals 3,389,825 4,105,486
14) Other operating charges 1,498,031 1,317,834
Total cost of production (B) 376,440,799 377,980,920 
Difference between value and cost of production (A - B) 13,538,519 9,177,116
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C) Financial income and charges

2002 2001
15) Income from participating interests 10,976 35,888
16) Other financial income:
a) - from receivables recorded as fixed assets 29,584 33,646

- other 66,000
b) from securities recorded as fixed assets
c) from securities recorded as current assets 297,420 367,704 
d) other financial income:
from subsidiaries
from associated companies 254,087 92,255 
from parent companies
Other 26,502,015 11,926,551 
Total (d) 26,756,102 12,018,806
Total (16) 27,149,106 12,420,156
17) Interest and other financial charges:
from subsidiaries
from associated companies 14,408 14
from parent companies
other 34,332,022 44,040,990 
Total (17) 34,346,430 44,041,004
Total financial income and charges (15 + 16 - 17) - 7,186,348 - 31,584,960 

D) Adjustments to the value of financial assets

18) Revaluations:
a) of equity interests 108,687 8,126 
b) of short-term investments
c) of securities recorded as current assets
Total (18) 108,687 8,126
19) Write-downs:
a) of equity interests 260,190 1,739,828 
b) of short-term investments 
c) of securities recorded as current assets
Total (19) 260,190 1,739,828
Total adjustments (18 - 19) - 151,503 - 1,731,702 

E) Extraordinary income and expenses

20) Income
- Gains on disposal 784,831 14,420
- Taxes of prior periods 191,367
- Other extraordinary income 1,459,298 1,002,543
Total (20) 2,244,129 1,208,330
21) Expenses
- Losses on disposal 1,604
- Taxes of prior periods 593,458 242,834
- Other extraordinary expenses 3,094,510 6,241,296
Total (21) 3,687,968 6,485,734
Total extraordinary items (20 – 21) - 1,443,839 - 5,277,404
Profit/(loss) before taxes (A-B+/-C+/-D+/-E) 4,756,829 - 29,416,950
22) Taxes on income 3,628,694 - 5,800,708 
23) Profit/(loss) for the period 1,128,135 - 23,616,242 
Minority interests in profit/(loss) for the period - 747,822 - 858,343 
26) Profit/(loss) for the period of the Group 1,875,957 - 22,757,899 

42



Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2002 
Net financial position

December 31, 2002 December 31, 2001
Bank loans and overdrafts:
- falling due within one year 72,652 103,889
- falling due after more than one year 13,086 19.193
Other financing creditors:
- falling due within one year 234
- falling due after more than one year
- leasing payments falling due within one year 514 503
- leasing payments falling due after more than one year 441 1,270
Debenture loans:
- falling due within one year
- falling due after more than one year 100,000 100,000
Secured payables:
- falling due within one year 237 425
- falling due after more than one year 100
Net balance of interest prepayments, accruals and deferrals 4,818 3,281

less:
Cash and bank - 14,118 - 15,997
Securities - 53,988 - 68,423
Loans given - 6,378 - 6,291
Factoring receivables - 12,680
Consolidated net financial position 117,264 125,504
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December 31, 2002 December 31, 2001

Net financial position at beginning of period - 125,504 - 119,744

allocation sources allocation sources
Profit/(Loss) for the period 1,876 - 22,758
Minority interests in profit/(loss) for the period 748 858
Depreciation of tangible assets 19,301 23,788
Amortisation of intangible assets 3,516 3,848
Write-downs of assets 8,748
Outflow/Inflow of funds 32,693 4,020

Current business activity

Accruals to staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R.) 2,666 2,740
Utilisation of staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R.) 3,067 2,254
Accruals to provision for pensions and similar obligations 411 528
Utilisation of provision for pensions and similar obligations 253 1,389
Accruals to provisions for risks and charges 3,781 4,324
Utilisation of provisions for risks and charges 3,017 8,142
Accruals to provision for deferred taxes 15 889
Utilisation of provision for deferred taxes 1,803 1,028
Change in inventory 2,426 11,793
Change in trade debtors 8,963 18,038
Change in receivables from subsidiaries,
associated companies, parent companies 641 2,316
Change in other debtors 9,103 1,451
Change in trade creditors 7,325 19,129
Change in payables to subsidiaries,
associated companies, parent companies 830 1,206
Change in other creditors 7,663 12,787
Change in other than interest prepayments,
accruals and deferrals 42 561
Outflow/Inflow of funds from current business activity 2,378 7,319
Total current business activity 30,315 3,299

Non current business activity

Accruals/Extraordinary expenses 1,707 4,675
Investing activities:
- Additions to tangible assets 16,259 16,010
- Investment in intangible assets 2,356 2,256
- Net change from disposal and consolidation 17,190 12,791
Equity interests:
- Acquisition of equity interests 590
- Accrual for exchange losses from depreciation of Arg. peso 4,300 4,300
- Net revaluation/write-down of interests carried at equity 151 1,731
- Commitments to purchase equity interests
- Change in ‘other equity interests’
Advance payment of employees’ personal income tax 
(IRPEF) on staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R.) 219 140
Change in receivables recorded as fixed assets 14 5,996
Outflow/Inflow of funds from non-current business activity 7,638 625

Equity management

Net change in consolidation area and minority interests 14,437 1,836
Dividend payments
Outflow/Inflow of funds from equity management 14,437 1,836
Net financial position at end of period - 117,264 - 125,504

Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2002 
Cash flow statement
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1. Purpose of Group companies 
The main corporate purpose of Carraro Group companies is to manufacture and sell automotive systems for agricultural tractors,
construction equipment, material handling equipment, light commercial vehicles and cars.

2. Presentation and contents of the consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the layout and accounting policies laid down in Legislative
Decree No. 127/91 and with the guidelines issued by CONSOB, the Italian Stock Exchange Commission.
The consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2002 have been drawn up on the basis of the financial statements prepared
by the directors of Group companies in compliance with the provisions of the Italian Civil Code and comprise the Balance sheet, the
Income statement and these Notes to the consolidated financial statements which shows amounts relating to the consolidated financial
statements as at 31 December 2001 as comparatives.
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro. Euro amounts are shown without decimals, as allowed by art. 2423 of
the Civil Code as amended, effective 1 January 2002, by art. 16, item 8, letter a) of Legislative Decree No. 213/98. The schedules
contained in the notes to the consolidated financial statements are expressed in thousands of Euro.

3. Consolidation area
The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise the annual financial statements of Carraro S.p.A. and of those companies in
which it holds, either directly or indirectly, a majority of voting rights at the annual general meeting.
The following entities are consolidated on a line-by-line basis:

Legal name Registered office Currency Nominal value Percentage 
of capital stock held

SIAP S.p.A. Maniago (PN) Euro 10,122,616 100%
Carraro Deutschland GmbH Hattingen (Germany) Euro 10,507,048 100%
Carraro Argentina S.A. Haedo, Buenos Aires (Argentina) Argentine Peso 25,809,288 93.90%
Carraro India Ltd. Ranjangaon - Pune (India) Indian Rupee 400,000,000 51%
F.O.N. S.A. Radomsko (Poland) Polish Zloty 7,058,220 84.788%
Carraro International S.A. Luxembourg Euro 9,850,000 99.99%
Carraro North America Inc. Calhoun - Georgia (USA) US Dollar 100 100%
Carraro Korea Ltd. Ulsan (Republic of Korea) South Korean Won 3,000,000,000 100%
O&K Antriebstechnik Gmbh & Co KG Hattingen (Germany) Euro 2,045,168 100%

The main changes in the consolidation area during the period were as follows:
a) The equity interest in F.O.N., Fabryka Osi Napedowych S.A was raised from 83.755% (2001) to 84.788% in the course of 2002,
following purchases of additional shares from third parties;
b) The equity interest in Carraro India Ltd. was raised from 36% to 51% following the purchase on 30 December 2002 of the share
held by Simest S.p.A..

On 28 June 2002 shares were subscribed by Carraro S.p.A. and Siap S.p.A., respectively, in Carraro PNH Components India Ltd. and
Siap Gears India Ltd..

Parent Legal name Registered office Currency Nominal value Percentage
company of capital stock held

Carraro S.p.A. Carraro PNH Components India Ltd. Bombay (India) Indian Rupee 10,000,200 99.998%
Siap S.p.A. Siap Gears India Ltd. Bombay (India) Indian Rupee 20,000,200 99.999%

The carrying value of the equity interest is equal to Euro 196,550 for Carraro PNH Components Ltd. and to Euro 393,096 for Siap Gears
India Ltd..
These entities are currently idle, their only significant asset is industrial land. They have been excluded from the consolidation area due
to their immateriality.

It should also be noted, with reference to the net equity of the individual consolidated entities, that the following amounts are recorded
by way of payment towards capital increase:
- USD 7,000,000 for Carraro North America Inc.;
- Euro 10,532,613 for Carraro Deutschland GmbH.

As for minority interests, we note that Simest S.p.A. has a 6% equity interest in Carraro Argentina S.A. which Carraro S.p.A. is committed
to repurchasing within the agreed term.

Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31, 2001  
Explanatory notes 



4. Basis of consolidation and accounting policies 

4.1 Basis of consolidation 

Values are consolidated on a line-by-line basis, i.e. all assets, liabilities, costs and revenues of the individual entities are consolidated
regardless of the percentage owned.
For the purposes of consolidating foreign-based entities, we have used balance sheet and income statement schedules specially
prepared according to the layout of the schedules adopted by the holding company and compiled in application of accounting policies
common with those applied by Carraro S.p.A.. Where necessary, to bring the closing dates of foreign entities in line with that of the
holding company, the directors prepared interim financial information using the same policies applied for the year-end reporting.
The carrying value of consolidated equity interests, owned by Carraro S.p.A. or by other entities included in the consolidation, has been
eliminated against the corresponding share of net equity of the subsidiary undertakings.
Net equity and profit for the period attributable to minority interests are shown on separate lines, respectively, of the consolidated
balance sheet and of the consolidated income statement.
Differences between the purchase cost and the value of the corresponding share of the net equity of participating interests at the date
on which the entities are first included in the consolidation, subject to allocation, where possible, to specific items within assets, are
stated on a line called ‘Consolidation difference’ in the assets section of the balance sheet, or directly charged to the consolidated net
equity on the line ‘Reserve from consolidation’. Differences originating from the purchase of additional shares or parts (‘quote’), after
the first year of consolidation, are stated as a contra entry to the ‘Reserve from consolidation’, or charged to the consolidated income
statement.
Significant transactions between consolidated entities, and accordingly the related receivables, payables, costs and revenue, as well as
unrealised gains from operations between group entities, have been eliminated.
Financial information expressed in a foreign currency has been translated into Euro at the year-end exchange rate in the case of assets
and liabilities, at historical exchange rates for equity components and at the average exchange rate of the period for income statement
amounts.
Any exchange differences originating from this method are stated on a specific line within net equity called ‘Reserve from translation
difference’.
The rates applied to translate foreign currency-denominated financial information are the following:

Legal name Currency Average exchange rate of 2002 Exchange rate of 31.12.2002

Carraro India Ltd Indian Rupee 47.0919 50.1808
F.O.N. SA Polish Zloty 3.8566 4.0210
Carraro North America Inc US Dollar 0.9454 1.0487
Carraro Korea Ltd South Korean Won 1,175.5507 1,243.7600
Carraro Argentina SA Argentine Peso 2.9728 3.5330

4.2 Accounting principles and policies 

In the consolidated financial statements, for consistency of presentation, the same accounting policies and principles were adopted as
those applied in the previous period.
The accounting principles used are those applicable to going concerns, which the directors believe to be appropriate in light of the
considerations made in the report on operations.
The accounting policies and principles applied to the most significant financial statements items are illustrated below.

a) Intangible assets 
Intangible assets, if purchased from third parties, are stated at purchase cost inclusive of directly attributable accessory charges; if self-
developed, at the purchase cost of the assets or services used, besides direct and indirect labour and relevant accessory charges.
Amounts are shown after amortisation allowances, computed on a straight-line basis with reference to the estimated useful life of the
assets.

b) Tangible assets 
Tangible assets are stated at purchase, transfer or own work cost, increased by monetary revaluations accounted for in compliance with
the law. Cost includes any specific financial charges incurred up to the time the asset goes into service.
The costs of improvements, revamping, transformations and extraordinary maintenance are capitalised as increases in the value of the
relevant assets. The corresponding ordinary costs are expensed as incurred. Fully depreciated assets remain on the balance sheet until
scrapped or disposed of.
Depreciation is accounted for at rates suitable to reflect the actual depreciation of the asset, on the basis of its estimated economic life.
Assets under construction are not depreciated.
In the event that, regardless of depreciation already accounted for, an impairment loss has occurred, then the asset is written down
accordingly; if in a subsequent period the reason for the write-down no longer applies, then the original value is reinstated.
Finance leases are accounted for by recording the present value of lease payments, including redemption value, within tangible assets.
The principal portion of liabilities for lease payments and the redemption amount are stated within liabilities on the line ‘Other financing
creditors’ falling due within or after one year, depending on the term of the lease. In the income statement, depreciation is accounted
for as if the asset had been purchased, and the principal portion of lease payments charged in the statutory financial statements of
consolidated entities is eliminated.

c) Financial assets
Equity interests of 20% or more in entities in which the Group does not exercise control, if significant, are carried at equity. If not
significant, they are carried at cost, adjusted to reflect any impairment losses.
Receivables recorded within financial assets are carried at estimated realisable value.

d) Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of average purchase or production cost of the year and market. Production cost includes materials,
labour, and direct and indirect manufacturing costs. Obsolete or slow-moving inventories are suitably written down.
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e) Receivables and payables
Receivables are stated at estimated realisable value. This corresponds to nominal value adjusted by a specific bad debt provision that
covers both accounts that are already know to be uncollectible and doubtful accounts included in the overall balance.
Payables are stated at nominal value.
Accounts denominated in currencies not belonging to the Euro area are adjusted to the official exchange rate at the period end and the
resulting gains or losses are taken to the income statement; receivables and payables in foreign currency falling due in the medium
term are adjusted to period-end exchange rates only if the translation gives rise to a loss.

f) Short-term investments
Securities held for trading purposes are carried at the lower of cost, including any premium, and market, determined as the average
trading price of the last month.
Other short-term investments are valued at the lower of cost and market.

g) Cash and bank
Cash and bank balances are stated at nominal value.

h) Prepayments, accruals and deferrals
Costs and revenues are accounted for on an accrual basis, with reference to the period to which they relate.

i) Provisions for risks and charges 
Accruals for risks and charges are made to cover losses or liabilities that are certain or probable, the amounts and dates of occurrence
of which cannot be determined exactly at the year end.
Provisions for taxes include the liability for probable taxes, the amounts and dates of occurrence of which cannot be determined exactly,
such as liabilities for probable tax assessments or litigation pending, valued on the basis of their foreseeable outcome.

l) Staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R.) 
Provision is made for the liability towards personnel in compliance with existing legislation and labour contracts.

m) Derivative contracts 
Forward exchange agreements are valued as follows:
a) if entered into to hedge for accounts payable and receivable, consistently with the accounting policies applied to the underlying assets
and liabilities;
b) if entered into to hedge for projected exports, any exchange differences realised during the period on those transactions are recorded
as adjustments to the value of sales revenue in that they are considered to be of a commercial nature; the premium or discount accruing
on contracts still outstanding at the period end is taken to the income statement and recorded within financial income or charges;
c) if entered into for trading purposes, consistently with the accounting policies applied to the receivables and payables denominated
in foreign currency.
Derivative contracts hedging for interest rate risks are valued under the same accounting policies as the liabilities hedged.

n) Costs and revenue
Costs and revenue are recognised in accordance with the principle of prudence, on a accrual basis, and the relevant prepayments,
accruals and deferrals are accounted for.
Revenue from sales is recognised on transfer of ownership, which generally corresponds to shipment. Revenue from services is
recognised at the time the service is rendered.

o) Infra-group transactions 
In compliance with CONSOB’s Recommendations dated 20 February 1997 (DAC/97001574) and 27 February 1998 (DAC/98015375), we
state that:
a) transactions with Group companies and related parties during the period gave rise to trading, financing or consulting receivables/payables
and were carried out, on an arm’s length basis, in the economic interests of the individual entities involved;
b) there were no unusual transactions beyond the scope of the ordinary course of business and the interest rates (receivable and payable) and
terms applied in financing transactions between the various entities were at arm’s length.

p) Current income taxes
Current income taxes are provided for on the basis of an estimate of taxable income of consolidated entities in compliance with existing
legislation and in consideration of applicable exemptions.

q) Deferred taxes
The individual entities provide for deferred taxes on temporary differences between the result of operations as per the statutory accounts
and taxable income. The contingent fiscal benefit connected with both temporary differences and losses available for carryforward is
accounted for when reasonable certainty exists that sufficient taxable income will be available in future to allow their recovery.
Additional deferred tax assets and/or liabilities originate from the tax effect of consolidation adjustments, mainly due to the
capitalisation of assets under lease, to intercompany stock and to value adjustments to goodwill, with reference to local tax legislation.
Deferred tax liabilities are provided for on a specific line under heading B) of the liability section of the balance sheet, deferred tax assets
are recorded within other debtors on line C.II.5 of the assets section.
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5. Analysis of financial statements items and changes from previous year 

Balance sheet - assets 

B.I. Intangible assets 
As at 31 December 2002 intangible assets totalled Euro 11.06m, versus Euro 20.59m as at 31 December 2001.
The balance may be analysed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description Start-up Research and Industrial Concessions Difference Assets under Other Total
and expansion development and other licences, trademarks from construction intangible 

costs expenses patent rights and similar rights consolidation and advances assets

Historical cost 2,392 1,629 703 4,230 17,630 242 5,582 32,408
Accumulated amortisation -1,166 -1,088 -479 -2,532 -3,298 -3,252 -11,815
NBV as at 31.12.2001 1,226 541 224 1,698 14,332 242 2,330 20,593
Movements 2002:
Increases 51 111 447 1,580 167 2,356
Capitalisation -420 420
Amortisation -428 -144 -107 -765 -1,156 -916 -3,516
Other changes -5 -33 -38
Write-downs -8,176 -8,176
Exchange differences -140 -13 -6 -159
NBV as at 31.12.2002 658 448 228 1,362 5,000 1,402 1,962 11,060
Comprising:
- historical cost 2,252 1,680 814 4,659 17,630 1,402 6,130 34,567
- accumulated amortisation -1,594 -1,232 -586 -3,297 -4,454 -4,168 -15,331
- Write-downs -8,176 -8,176

Increases during the period relate mostly to the purchase of software licences, for an amount of Euro 0.406m, and to the development
of software applications for purchase management, for an amount of Euro 0.128m, both by Carraro S.p.A..
The line ‘start-up and expansion costs’ may be analysed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description 31 December 2002 31 December 2001

Cost of start-up and amendments to company by-laws 54 89
Start-up cost of new manufacturing units 604 1,137
Total 658 1,226

‘Cost of start-up and amendments to company by-laws’ relates mainly to costs incurred in 1999 by Carraro International S.A., Carraro
Korea Inc. and Carraro Argentina S.A..
‘Start-up cost of new manufacturing units’ relates essentially to the costs incurred to start up the manufacturing operations of Carraro
India Ltd. and to take them to operate at capacity.
Research and development expenses relate to the capitalisation of costs relating to the designing of new product lines developed in
connection with similar projects started by customers. Other studies concerning products are still in the design stage and are recorded
within assets under construction.
The item ‘Difference from consolidation’ shows the value originating from the consolidation entries of F.O.N. S.A. and O&K
Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG, being the difference between the price originally paid for the purchased equity interests and the
current values of the assets and liabilities of the invested entities.
With reference to F.O.N. S.A., the difference, which as at 31 December 2001 had a net book value of Euro 0.341m, was reduced to nil
as at 31 December 2002 as a result of amortisation (Euro 0.08m) and of the definition of the adjustment to the original price paid for
the investment (Euro 0.26m), following an agreement with the seller Pekao Fundusz Kapitalowy Sp. Zoo. dated 29 May 2002.
With reference to O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG, the value originally capitalised corresponded to the goodwill paid on acquisition
of the entity. As at 31 December 2002, the carrying value of the goodwill was reviewed to assets its recoverability. In consideration of:
– the result of operations of the subsidiary for the year 2002,
– the restructuring and industrial reorganisation activities, which had an adverse impact on profitability, and
– the projected results of operations and cash flows of the German subsidiary for the next five years,
impairment losses on the above goodwill were determined for an amount of Euro 7.91m and charged to income, giving a residual value
of Euro 5m for the consolidation difference as at 31 December 2002. At the same time, in light of the specific circumstances, it was
considered appropriate also to reduce the remaining useful life of goodwill, originally estimated as fifteen years, to five years.
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B.II. Tangible assets
As at 31 December 2002 tangible assets totalled Euro 97.04m, versus Euro 117.65m as at 31 December 2001.
The balance may be analysed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description Land Plant Industrial  Other Assets under Total
and and equipment assets construction 

buildings machinery and advances

Historical cost 50,218 147,888 70,908 22,085 1,179 292,278
Accumulated depreciation -10,323 -92,350 -56,652 -15,302 -174,627
NBV as at 31.12.2001 39,895 55,538 14,256 6,783 1,179 117,652
Movements 2002:
Increases 1,477 5,701 5,397 971 2,713 16,259
Decreases -800 -1,357 -139 -132 -2,428
Capitalisation 240 361 283 -884
Write-downs -168 -404 -572
Depreciation -1,360 -10,588 -5,363 -1,990 -19,301
Change in advances -6 -6
Reclassification 501 -501
Exchange differences -6,426 -5,380 -2,077 -636 -39 -14,558
NBV as at 31.12.2002 33,527 44,107 11,953 4,996 2,462 97,045
Comprising:
- historical cost 44,868 140,106 71,510 21,770 2,462 280,716
- accumulated depreciation -11,341 -95,831 -59,153 -16,774 -183,099
- write-downs -168 -404 -572

Tangible assets include leased assets for a value of Euro 14.30m, already depreciated for an amount of Euro 12.07m.
Increases during the period in ‘Plant and machinery’ relate mostly to the purchase of automated and generic machinery by Carraro
S.p.A. and Siap S.p.A.; as for ‘Industrial equipment’, the most significant additions were cast moulds and tooling purchased by Carraro
S.p.A. and Siap S.p.A..
The significant balance of exchange differences relates to large fluctuations in the course of the year in exchange rates, in particular of
the Argentine peso, the US dollar and, to a lesser extent, of the Indian rupee and Polish zloty.
The item ‘Other assets’ may be analysed as follows: 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description 31 December 2002 31 December 2001

Furniture and fixtures 2,725 3,798
Office machines 1,895 2,494
Cars and forklift trucks 376 491
Total 4,996 6,783

Tangible assets are encumbered by mortgages and liens in favour of banks and other financing creditors for facilitated loans received.

B.III.  Financial assets 

B.III.1  Equity interests 

Changes in equity interests during 2002 are detailed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description NBV as at Increases/ Decreases Write-downs/ Change in NBV as at 
31.12.2001 Acquisitions/ Revaluations consolidation 31.12.2002

Capital area
contributions

Equity interests in subsidiaries:
Carraro PNH Components India Ltd. 197 197
Siap Gears India Ltd. 393 393
Equity interests in associated companies:
STM S.r.l. 2,493 109 2,602
Agritalia S.p.A. 1,048 966 -247 1,767
TKM S.r.l. 146 -146
Elcon S.r.l. 13 -13
Equity interests in other companies 106 37 143
Total 3,806 1,593 -146 -151 5,102
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B.III.1.a  Equity interests in subsidiaries
The balance of Euro 0.59m may be detailed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Parent company Legal name Registered office Percentage held  Carrying value

Carraro S.p.A. Carraro PNH Components India Ltd. Mumbay (India) 99.998% 197
Siap S.p.A. Siap Gears India Ltd. Mumbay (India) 99.999% 393

These investments were booked in the first half of 2002 following the subscription of share capital effected by conversion of previously
existing receivables from the entities in question.
The investments are valued at subscription cost.

B.III.1.b  Equity interests in associated companies 
- STM S.r.l., with registered office in Maniago (PN), 50% owned by SIAP S.p.A., has been valued at equity, which brings the carrying value
to Euro 2.60m.
- Agritalia S.p.A., with registered office in Rovigo, 33.33% owned by Carraro S.p.A., has been valued at equity, which brings the carrying
value to Euro 1.77m. The value increased by Euro 0.97m as a result of a contribution toward share capital increase made on 1 October
2002.
- In the course of 2002 the 20% interest held by SIAP S.p.A. in TKM S.r.l., with registered office in Maniago (PN), was sold to STM S.r.l..
The latter also purchased the remaining equity of TKM S.r.l., which was subsequently merged into STM S.r.l..
- The carrying value of Elcon Elettronica S.r.l., with registered office in Trieste, owned at 24.9% by Carraro S.p.A., was written off after
the entity’s capital had been reduced to nil because of the loss reported for the period.

B.III.1.d  Equity interests in other companies 
This line relates to minority equity interests held for an amount of Euro 0.08m by Carraro S.p.A., for an amount of Euro 0.01m by SIAP
S.p.A., and for an amount of Euro 0.05m by O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG.

B.III.2.b  Receivables from associated companies

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description Balance as at Increases Revaluation Reclassification Repayments Foreign exchange Balance as at 
31.12.20001 long-/short-term adjustments 31.12.2002

Loan to STM S.r.l.:
- falling due within one year
- falling due after more than one year 4,000 4,000
Total receivables from associated companies 4,000 4,000

The amount of receivables from associated companies relates entirely to a loan of Euro 4.00m disbursed in the course of 2001 to STM
S.r.l. by SIAP S.p.A., to be repaid in one instalment in 2006.

B.III.2.d  Receivables from others 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description Balance as at Increases Revaluation Reclassification Repayments Foreign exchange Balance as at
31.12.2001 long-/short-term adjustments 31.12.2002

Loan to Fonderie del Montello:
- falling due within one year 1,033 1,033
Advance on employees’ personal 
income tax (IRPEF) 
on staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R.) 993 29 -249 773
Sundry receivables 6,021 89 -961 5,149
Total receivables from others 8,047 118 -249 -961 6,955

The balance receivable as at 31 December 2002 of the loan originally amounting to Euro 3.62m given by Carraro S.p.A. to the former
subsidiary Fonderie del Montello S.p.A. was equal to Euro 1.03m.
The advance on employees’ personal income tax (IRPEF) on the staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R.), equal to Euro 0.77m, was computed and
utilised in accordance with the law.
The balance of Euro 5.15m in sundry receivables relates, for an amount of Euro 5.03m, to an account receivable booked by Carraro
North America Inc. and originating from a finance lease on proprietary real estate. The decrease due to foreign exchange adjustments
originates from the fluctuation of the exchange rate of the Euro to the US dollar during the period.

C.I. Inventory

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description Balance Balance Obsolescence Obsolescence NBV NBV
31.12.2001 31.12.2002 provision provision 31.12.2001 31.12.2002

31.12.2001 al 31.12.2002

Raw materials 36,925 37,038 -2,109 -2,322 34,816 34,716
Work in progress 20,025 22,524 -1,169 -1,100 18,856 21,424
Finished products 11,577 12,121 -1,040 -1,625 10,537 10,496
Total 31,602 34,645 -2,209 -2,725 29,393 31,920
Goods in transit 500 498 500 498
Total inventory 69,027 72,181 -4,318 -5,047 64,709 67,134
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The balance of inventory as at 31 December 2002 was Euro 67.13m versus Euro 64.71m as at 31 December 2001.
The provision for obsolescence, totalling Euro 5.05m, is detailed as follows: Euro 2.32m for raw materials and consumables, Euro 1.10m
for work in progress and Euro 1.63m or finished products. The amounts booked do not differ substantially from a valuation at current
costs at the period end.

C.II. Receivables
Changes in receivables are analysed as follows: 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description 31 December 2002 31 December 2001

Trade debtors 87,991 79,029
Receivables from associated companies 4,014 4,568
Other debtors 26,073 47,854
Total receivables 118,078 131,451

The balance of trade debtors as at 31 December 2001 was influenced by the fact that the portfolio of factored accounts receivable of
Carraro S.p.A. was temporarily reduced by Euro 12.68m, booked as “Other debtors”.
Receivables from associated companies relate to Agritalia S.p.A. for an amount of Euro 2.17m, STM S.r.l. for an amount of Euro 1.66m
(including Euro 1.24m in financing receivables) and Elcon S.r.l. for an amount of Euro 0.18m (including Euro 0.10m in financing receivables).
Other debtors may be analysed as follows:

Valori in migliaia di Euro

Description 31 December 2002 31 December 2001

Treasury for VAT 11,519 16,012
Treasury for IRPEG, corporation tax 
and IRAP, trade income tax (advances) 2,178 5,083
Treasury for tax withholdings 54 74
Export incentives 1,503 1,969
Credits for tax paid abroad 179
Deferred tax assets 7,800 9,231
Treasury for other credits 207 340
Social security institutions 127 155
Receivables from factors 12,680
Guarantee deposits 114 130
Other 2,471 1,901
Refund of registration tax applied for 100 100
Total other debtors 26,073 47,854

Receivables from the Treasury include VAT which the Italian entities have already applied for refund of, for an amount of Euro 5.77m
and VAT credits of foreign companies for an amount of Euro 3.82m.
Export incentives receivable relate mostly to Carraro Argentina, for an amount of Euro 0.62m. and to Carraro S.p.A., for an amount of
Euro 0.49m.
Changes in the most significant balances are explained as follows:
– VAT credits decreased mainly as a result of refunds received in 2002 by Carraro S.p.A.;
– Credits for IRPEG and IRAP advances decreased following lower advances paid in 2002 and were offset against corporation and trade
income tax payable in respect of 2002. If tax payables and receivables had been thus offset also as at 31 December 2001, the balance
at that date would have been equal to Euro 1.654m;
– Deferred tax assets decreased as a result of utilisation by Carraro S.p.A. (Euro 2.86m) and an increase generated by consolidation
entries (Euro 1.61m);
– As at 31 December 2002 there were no factoring operations in progress;
– Other debtors show a net increase of Euro 0.57m due to the combined effect, on the one hand, of the recording by Carraro S.p.A. of
the receivable from the sale of the former Trenton business, for an amount of Euro 1.811m, on the other, of reclassifications within short-
term investments for an amount of Euro 0.413 in SIAP S.p.A. and for an amount of Euro 0.227m in Carraro S.p.A., besides minor
decreases.
Deferred tax assets, equal to Euro 7.80m, relate to the balances booked by Carraro S.p.A., Carraro Deutschland, and O&K Antriebstechnik
for tax paid in advance. The deferred tax assets have been recorded on the assumption that they will be recovered through the reporting
of sufficient future taxable income, which is considered probable on the basis of the present business plans.

C.III. Short-term investments

6) Other securities 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description 31 December 2002 31 December 2001

Commercial paper 16,656 23,081
Certificates of Credit of the Treasury (CCT) 2,162 1,312
Treasury bonds (BTP) 171 1,030
Other 35,000 43,000
Total 53,989 68,423
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The balance of Euro 16.66m relates to a short-term investment by Carraro S.p.A. in commercial paper, secured by a bank guarantee.
Most treasury securities are deposited as guarantee in favour of banks which gave guarantees against facilitated loans from special
credit institutions to Carraro S.p.A. and its subsidiaries.
The line ‘Other’ relates to short-term investments by Carraro International on certificates of deposit issued by Société Europeénne de
Banque.
Treasury securities are valued at the lower of cost, including any premium, and market, determined on the basis of the average price
for the month of December 2002.
Other investments recorded within current asses are valued at the lower of cost and market.
Changes in balances compared with 31 December 2001 reflect the effect of the Group’s treasury management policies in relation to
the overall financial position.

C.IV. Cash and bank

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description 31 December 2002 31 December 2001

Bank deposits 13,510 15,765
Cash on hand 555 39
Cheques 53 193
Total 14,118 15,997

The decrease in the balance of cash and bank is connected to the change in borrowings from banks. As detailed in the schedule on the
net financial position accompanying the financial statements schedules, net debts to banks decreased from Euro 107.32m as at 31
December 2001 to Euro 72.23m as at 31 December 2002 as a result of both a decrease in securities holdings and an increase in
working capital surplus also due to the collection of VAT refunds obtained by Carraro S.p.A..

D) Accrued income and prepayments  

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description 31 December 2002 31 December 2001

Short-term accrued interest income 5,285 6.067
Medium-/long-term accrued interest income 101 80
Other accrued income 20 20
Total accrued income 5,406 6,167
Short-term interest prepayments 21 61
Medium-/long-term interest prepayments 12 17
Short-term insurance prepayments 183 47
Medium-/long-term insurance prepayments 8 15
Other short-term prepayments 843 847
Other medium-/long-term prepayments 81 87
Total prepayments 1,148 1,074
Total accrued income and prepayments 6,554 7,241

Accrued interest income relates mostly to interest accruing on financing investments made by Carraro International S.A. for an amount
of Euro 0.65m, and by Carraro S.p.A. (commercial paper and treasury securities) for an amount of Euro 0.29m, besides the effect of the
Interest Rate Swap entered into by Carraro International S.A. and Mediobanca to hedge interest flows generated by the above-mentioned
Eurobond (Euro 4.14m).
Other prepayments relate mainly to technical service fees owed in respect of future periods and insurance premiums paid in advance.
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Balance Sheet - Liabilities

A) Net equity 

Movements in net equity during 2002 are analysed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description Balance Profit for FY 2001 Profit for FY 2001 Translation Change in Other Profit for FY Balance as at
as at appropriated appropriated difference consolidation movements 2002 31.12.2002

31.12.2001 to reserves to dividends area

I Share capital 21,840 21,840
II Share premium reserve 17,833 17,833
III Revaluation reserve
IV Legal reserve 3,120 3,120
V Reserve for own shares 
in portfolio
VI Statutory reserves
VII Other reserves 41,488 -22,758 -14,683 1,847 5,895
VIII Profit/(Loss) 
carried forward
IX Consolidated profit/(loss) 
for the period  -22,758 22,758 1,876 1,876
Net equity of the Group 61,524 -14,683 1,847 1,876 50,564
Minority interests 
in capital and reserves 5,583 -858 -254 -1,347 3,124
Minority interests  
in profit/(loss) for the period -858 858 -748 -748
Total net equity 66,249 -14,937 -1,347 1,847 1,128 52,940

Share capital 
Share capital of Carraro S.p.A., fully subscribed and paid in, stands at Euro 21,840,000 and is subdivided into 42,000,000 ordinary
shares of Euro 0.52 each.

Share premium reserve 
The amount of Euro 17.83m was generated upon the flotation of Carraro S.p.A. on the Italian Stock Exchange.

Legal reserve 
There were no movements in the legal reserve of Carraro S.p.A. in the course of 2002.

Other reserves 
Heading VII includes, with reference to Carraro S.p.A., the extraordinary reserve of Euro 3.224m, the reserve from extraordinary income
as per art. 55 of Euro 0.514m, and the reserve from accelerated depreciation of Euro 6.902m.
Moreover, this heading also includes the reserve from translation differences for an amount of Euro –10.650m due to the effect of the
translation into Euro of the financial statements of foreign group entities. The value of the reserve reflects mainly the effect of the
depreciation of the Argentine peso in the first half of 2002.
The remaining Euro 5.905m relates to the consolidation reserve and to other minor reserves. This value is heavily affected by the
carryforward of the loss for the year ended 31 December 2001 (Euro 22.758m).
No taxes have been provided for on the tied equity reserves because, as they are not planned to be distributed, at present the
requirement for recording the corresponding tax charge is not met.

Minority interests in capital and reserves
The year-end balance of Euro 2.376m, including the negative portion for the period equal Euro 0.748m, represents the interest of the
minority shareholder Simest S.p.A., computed with reference to the commitment to repurchase the latter’s interest in the subsidiary
Carraro Argentina S.A., as well as minority interests in Carraro India Ltd. and F.O.N. S.A..

Effects from hyperinflationary economies not reflected in the balance sheet
We point out that the value of the net equity of Carraro Argentina S.A., translated into Euro under the method illustrated at point 4.1
above, does not reflect the revaluation effect generated by local inflation.
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B) Provisions for risks and charges
Movements in provisions for risks and charges are detailed as follows: 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description Balance Change in Exchange rate Reclassification Increases Decreases Balance
31.12.2001 consolidation area adjustments 31.12.2002

B1 - Provision for pensions 
and similar obligations 3,333 -115 411 -253 3,376
B2 - Provisions:
- for deferred taxes 1,847 15 -1,545 317
- for tax risks 258 -258
B3 - Other provisions:
- product warranty 4,820 -83 62 3,390 -2,851 5,338
- other  9,894 -235 -260 3,009 -8,160 4,248
Total 20,152 -433 -198 6,825 -13,067 13,279

The Provision for pensions and similar obligations of Euro 3.376m relates to similar provisions booked by Carraro Argentina S.A. (Euro
0.007m), F.O.N. S.A. (Euro 0.653m) and O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG (Euro 2,716m).
Increases relate to accruals recorded by F.O.N. S.A. (Euro 0.173m) and O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG (Euro 0.238m).
Decreases relate to utilisations by F.O.N. S.A. (Euro 0.243m) and O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG (Euro 0,010m).

The provision for deferred taxes originates from accruals made by SIAP S.p.A. (Euro 0.270m) O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG
(Euro 0.048m). The decrease originates, for an amount of Euro 0.11m, from utilisation by Siap S.p.A. and for an amount of Euro 1.430m
from consolidation adjustments.

The litigation brought following the tax audit performed at Carraro S.p.A. in 1998 by the tax inspectors was finally closed in October
2002 by means of a court settlement which involved a total charge of Euro 0.675m, against which the provision for tax risks was utilised
in full.

With reference to Carraro S.p.A., we draw your attention to the following aspects of the litigation:
ß Following a ruling in favour of the company handed down by the Court of Cassation on 21 January 2002, and registered on 18 July
2002, the company won the case brought against a leading auditing firm.
ß The litigation with I.N.P.S., the national social security, started in 1996 for alleged omission to pay social charges was closed on 5
October 1999 by the Court of First Instance of Padua in favour of Carraro. The proceeding is currently before the Court of Cassation for
a final judgement. On the basis of the information currently available, our assessment that the claims by the national social security are
groundless is unchanged and we do not believe, based on our consultants’ opinion, that the risk profile of the litigation has changed.

The product warranty provision was partly utilised, for an amount of Euro 2.85m, for payments to customers and increased, for an
amount of Euro 3.39m, with reference to the estimated warranty costs to be incurred in relation to sales made.

As to change in the balance of ‘Other provisions’, the increase of Euro 3.009m relates, for the most part, to accruals for restructuring
costs and other personnel-related charges made by O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG for an amount of Euro 2.618m, and to
accruals for costs relating to litigation pending with employees made by Carraro Argentina S.A. for an amount of Euro 0.368m.

Utilisations, totalling Euro 8.160m, relate mostly to the implementation of the corporate reorganisation plan at Carraro S.p.A. (Euro
0.468m), Siap S.p.A. (Euro 0.095m) and O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG (Euro 2,747m), as well as to the utilisation of the provision
for unrealised exchange losses of Euro 4.30m accounted for as at 31 Dec. 2001 to reflect the impact of the exchange losses booked by
Carraro Argentina S.A..

The year-end balance of ‘Other provisions’ includes:
ß Euro 2,746m for the estimated future charges that will be incurred to implement the restructuring plans started at Carraro S.p.A.
(Euro 0.852m), SIAP S.p.A. (Euro 0.055m) and O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG (Euro 1,839m).
ß The remaining balance relates to accruals by the individual entities for future risks and charges, including Euro 1.12m for personnel-
relates charges and other liabilities of O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG.

C) Staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R., Trattamento di fine rapporto di lavoro subordinato) 

Movements in the staff leaving indemnity were as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description Balance as at Increases Exchange rate Decreases Transfers/ Balance as at
31.12.2001 adjustments reclassification 31.12.2002

Workers 9,701 1,671 -4 -925 -875 9,568
Clerks and executives 4,883 994 -2 -982 -278 4,615
Total 14,584 2,665 -6 -1,907 -1,153 14,183

Movements in the staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R.) are recorded in compliance with the law and cover the indemnities earned as at 31
December 2002 by 1,524 workers, 493 clerks and 33 executives. The column ‘Decreases’ relates to advances and indemnities paid out
and comprises also amounts earned by employees transferred between Group companies and changes in qualification.
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D) Payables 

Changes in the balance are analysed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description 31 December 2002 31 December 2001

Bonds and debenture loans 100,000 100,000
Bank loans and overdrafts (see analysis)
- falling due within one year 72,652 103,889
- falling due after more than one year 13,086 19,193
Other financing creditors (see analysis)
- falling due within one year 234
- falling due after more than one year
- leases falling due within one year 514 503
- leases falling due after more than one year 441 1,270
Advances 276 334
Trade creditors 86,699 79,374
Secured payables:
- falling due within one year 237 425
- falling due after more than one year 100
Payables to subsidiaries
Payables to associated companies 1,997 1,141
Payables to parent companies 22 49
Tax payables 2,916 5,730
Social security payables 2,363 2,451
Other creditors (see analysis) 11,451 16,155
Total 292,654 330,848

The amount of ‘Bonds and debenture loans’, equal to Euro 100m, relates to a non-convertible debenture loan, denominated in Euro,
issued by Carraro International S.A. on 29 May 2001 and expiring in 2006 against which an Interest Rate Swap has been entered into
to hedge for interest rate risk.
The change in the balance of trade creditors compared with 31 December 2001 is in line with the increase in the purchase volumes of
raw materials and consumables.
Payables to associated companies include Euro 1.693m owed to STM S.r.l., Euro 0.238m owed to Agritalia S.p.A. and Euro 0.066m owed
to Elcon S.r.l..
Analyses and comments on the changes in other debtors are set out below.

Bank loans and overdrafts may be analysed as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description 31 December 2002 31 December 2001

Current accounts and export advance accounts 63,540 85,050
Exchange rate adjustments to export advances -1,305 1,075
Short-term loans in other currencies 6,922 13,458
F.R.I.E. 644
Interbanca 326 326
Medio Credito Centrale as per Law No. 100/90 2,988 2,988
IMI 181 348
Total short-term 72,652 103,889
Long-term loans in other currencies 5,034 7,646
Medio Credito Centrale as per Law No. 100/90 6,583 9,571
Exchange rate adjustments to loans 
Interbanca 1,469 1,795
IMI 181
Total medium-/long-term 13,086 19,193
Total bank loans and overdrafts 85,737 123,082

Bank loans and overdrafts totalled Euro 85.74m (Euro 17.63m after credit balances, investment in securities and cash balances) versus
Euro 123.08m as at 31 December 2001 (Euro 38.7m after credit balances, investment in securities and cash balances), which is
evidence of the effects of the debt reduction measures taken starting from the previous period.
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Other financing creditors may be analysed as follows: 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description 31 December 2002 31 December 2001

Loan from Ministry of Industry as per Law No. 46/82 – Short-term portion 39
ECIP loan (project India) 195
Leases falling due within one year 514 503
Total short-term 514 737
Leases falling due after more than one year 441 1,270
Total medium-/long-term 441 1,270
Total other financing creditors 955 2,007

The decrease in the balance relates mostly to the gradual repayment of payables from leasing operations and to the full repayment of
the ECIP loan received from Istituto Bancario San Paolo di Torino against funds borrowed from the EU for a feasibility study carried out
for the purpose of establishing a joint venture with Escorts Ltd. in India.
Tax payables include:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description 31 December 2002 31 December 2001

VAT owed for settlement 4 195
Income taxes 620 3,484
Employees’ personal income tax (IRPEF) 1,839 1,784
Other IRPEF withholdings 152 102
Other tax withholdings 301 165
Total 2,916 5,730

‘Income taxes‘ decreased as a result of the offsetting with IRPEG and IRAP credits of a similar nature and expiration as at 31 December
2002. If tax payables and receivables had been thus offset also as at 31 December 2001, the balance at that date would have been
equal to Euro 0.055m.
Other creditors include:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description 31 December 2002 31 December 2001

Employees’ remuneration 1,914 1,990
Other amounts payable to employees 3,715 4,787
Amounts owed to employees’ trade unions 21 18
Amounts payable to corporate boards 75 39
Other 5,726 9,321
Total 11,451 16,155

The most significant components of the change in ‘Other creditors’ were the settlement of Carraro S.p.A.’s liability to Locat, equal to
Euro 1.6m, to close the related property lease operation, and the settlement of the balance owed by Carraro S.p.A. for its equity interest
in F.O.N. S.A., equal to Euro 0.57m.
The balance as at 31 December 2002 includes Euro 5.03m payable by Carraro North America Inc. in relation to the purchase of an
industrial building at Calhoun (Georgia).

Accrued expenses and deferred income 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description 31 December 2002 31 December 2001

Accrued interest expense – short-term 10,029 8,684
Accrued interest expense – medium-/long-term 799
Accrued personnel expenses – short-term 523 558
Other short-term accrued expenses 79 20
Total accrued expenses 10,631 10,061
Deferred interest income – short-term 209 23
Deferred interest income – medium-/long-term
Deferred income from grants – short-term 3
Deferred income from grants – medium-/long-term
Other short-term deferred income 140
Total deferred income 349 26
Total accrued expenses and deferred income 10,980 10,087

Accrued interest expense includes interest accruing on the debenture loan issued by Carraro International S.A., for an amount of Euro
4.142m, and on a hedge for interest rate risk relating to the same bond, for an amount of Euro 4.852m. The remaining amount relates
to interest accruing on advances, overdrafts and loans from banks and financial institutions.
Accrued personnel expenses relate to the additional months’ salaries owed to workers and clerks.
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Memorandum accounts

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description Carraro S.p.A. Siap S.p.A. Carraro International S.A. Total

A) Guarantees given on behalf of third parties 13,911 13,911
B) Securities deposited as guarantee on behalf of third parties 2,067 93 2,160
Total risks 15,978 93 16,071
C) Commitments
- Commitments to repurchase equity interests 1,112 1,112
- Other commitments 103 103
Total commitments 1,215 1,215
Other:
D) Guarantees received from third parties 2,844 2,844
E) Mortgages 6,197 6,197
F) Guarantees given by third parties on our behalf 30,566 186 30,752
G) Swaps on accounts receivable 36,650 175 36,825
H) Interest Rate Swaps 65,329 100,000 165,329
I) Forward Rate Agreements 155,000 155,000

L) Foreign currency options 22,621 22,621

Risks
A) ‘Guarantees given on behalf of third parties’ are given to banks on behalf of subsidiaries against loans given to the latter.
B) ‘Securities deposited as guarantee on behalf of third parties’ are pledges on Treasury securities in favour of banks against loans given
by them to Carraro subsidiaries or against bank sureties given for facilitated loans obtained by Carraro subsidiaries.

Commitments
C) ‘Commitments to repurchase equity interests’ as at 31 December 2002 relate to the interest in Carraro Argentina S.A. owned by
Simest S.p.A., in accordance with the terms of contractual agreements.

Other memorandum accounts which do not reflect risks or commitments

Guarantees received from third parties
D) This item relates, for an amount of Euro 1.03m, to the remaining amount of the guarantee received from FINAID S.r.l. to secure a loan
originally of Euro 3.62m granted to Fonderie del Montello S.p.A. and, for an amount of Euro 1.81m, to a guarantee received from Banca
Popolare dell’Emilia Romagna to secure the payment of the amount owed for the sale of the former Trenton business by Meccanica Fananese
S.r.l. originally amounting to Euro 2.30m.

Guarantees given on our own behalf
E) This item relates to a mortgage taken out on an industrial building in Poggiofiorito (SIAP S.p.A.) against a loan.

Guarantees given by third parties on behalf of Carraro
F) This item relates to guarantees given by banks, insurance companies and the parent company FINAID S.r.l. to various institutions,
mostly relating to VAT refunds, building permits, loans or credit facilities and delayed payments.

Exchange rate and interest rate hedges
G) Exchange rate hedges:
This item relates to swaps and forward agreements relating to sales denominated in foreign currency and forecast for the subsequent
months on the basis of the purchasing plans submitted by customers. Contracts are entered into with banks and financial institutions.
H/I) Interest rate hedges (Interest Rate Swaps and Forward Rate Agreements):
This item relates to contracts entered into with banks to hedge for the risk of exchange rate fluctuations on loans or other debt
instruments in place. The most significant contracts were made to hedge for the exchange rate risks originating from the debenture
loan issued by Carraro International S.A.. In particular, the operation involves two Interest Rate Swaps entered into by Carraro
International (Euro 100m) and Carraro S.p.A. (Euro 55m) and some Forward Rate Agreements entered into by Carraro International
(Euro 155m).
L) Currency options:
For hedging purposes, Carraro S.p.A. has entered into currency options worth Euro 65.33m as at 31 December 2002.
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Income statement

The main changes in consolidated income statement amounts are illustrated below.

A) Value of production 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description 31 December 2002 31 December 2001

1) Revenue from sales and services
Construction equipment axles 208,090 205,472
Axels for light commercial vehicles 8,019 8,429
Forklift axles 25,328 24,972
‘Power shuttle’ transmissions 19,561 21,943
Agricultural transaxle 14,544 8,153
Cam phaser devices 5,285 5,665
Clutches 1,644 2,118
Gears 24,203 19,946
Spare parts 22,357 24,870
Drive systems for escalators 6,152 7,103
Final & Swing drives 18,646 23,967
Other components 16,247 17,883
Other revenue 10,983 15,102
Total 1) 381,059 385,623
2)  Change in stocks of work in progress and finished products
- Opening stocks (excluding goods in transit) -31,602 -35,978
- Changes in consolidation area, translation differences and reclassifications 1,421 533
- Adjustment to provision for obsolescence -516 46
- Closing stocks (excluding goods in transit) 34,645 31,602
Total 2) 3,948 -3,797
3) Change in contracted work in progress
4) Own work capitalised 512 420
5) Other income
- grants 52 788
- export incentives 1,695 1,465
- ordinary gains 853 196
- other 1,860 2,463
Total 5) 4,460 4,912
Total value of production 389,979 387,158

Sales for 2002 show a 1.18% decrease on a year earlier, attributable to weak demand in the reference markets of the group’s main
customers, in particular in the segment of Construction Equipment.
The value of sales has been adjusted for the reclassification of exchange gains for an amount of Euro 0.30m (vs. exchange losses of
Euro 0.59m in FY 2001).
Additional comments on the trend of sales are set out in the directors’ report on operations.
Revenue may be broken down by territory as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description FY 2002 FY 2001

Italy 76,295 68,218
EU 161,082 172,235
North America 84,377 94,071
Other foreign sales 59,305 51,099
Total 381,059 385,623

Foreign sales as a percentage of the total declined to 79.98%, versus 82.31% for the prior year. Sales within the EU, excluding Italy,
amounted to Euro 161.08m, those outside the EU to Euro 143.68m.
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B) Cost of production 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description FY 2002 FY 2001

6) Raw materials, consumables and goods for resale
- Raw material purchases 206,283 192,284
- Raw material returns -1,353 -1,524
Total 204,930 190,760
Other cost of production:
- Miscellaneous consumables  1,072 1,365
- Consumable tooling 3,462 3,611
- Maintenance material 1,759 1,791
- Materials and services for resale 504 519
- Volume rebates and discounts -887 -759
Total 5,910 6,527
Total 6) 210,840 197,287
7) Cost of services
Outsourced production services:
- Processing 23,578 24,224
- Maintenance 3,942 4,073
- Other industrial services 4,735 4,772
- Freight, transportation and customs 4,750 4,887
- Temporary workshop workers 1,450 670
Total 38,455 38,626
Sundry supplies (utilities) 4,640 5,429
General expenses:
- Refund of travel expenses 1,909 2,243
- Stationery 370 410
- Postage and telephone 892 935
- Miscellaneous external services 2,696 3,045
- Long-term car rentals 314 286
- Temporary office workers 29 12
- Consulting 3,482 3,703
- Directors’ emoluments 1,338 1,131
- Statutory auditors’ emoluments 213 273
- Company policies 1,270 1,081
- Technical service fees 1,775 1,542
- Sundry company expenses 538 859
Total 14,826 15,520
Marketing costs:
- Advertising 90 131
- Trade fairs 38 275
- Other 238 225
Total 366 631
Selling expenses:
- Payments under warranty 2,518 2,934
- Freight, transportation and customs 5,193 5,169
- Utilisation of product warranty provision -2,336 -2,773
- Commissions and royalties 259 211
- Packaging and other selling expenses 379 466
Total 6,013 6,007
Total 7) 64,300 66,213
8) Cost of utilisation of third parties’ assets
- Rent 1,254 1,210
- Royalties payable 177 182
- Other
Total 8) 1,431 1,392
9) Personnel costs
- Wages 27,345 31,481
- Salaries 18,396 20,648
- Social contributions on wages 8,837 10,351
- Social contributions on salaries 4,989 5,645
- Staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R.) - workers 1,671 1,731
- Staff leaving indemnity (T.F.R.) - clerks and executives 994 1,009
- Accruals for pensions and similar obligations 411 528
- Company canteen 583 787
- Other personnel costs 1,805 1,497
Total 9) 65,031 73,677
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10) Depreciation and write-downs FY 2002 FY 2001

- Amortisation of intangible assets 3,516 3,848
- Depreciation of tangible assets 19,301 23,788
- Write-downs of fixed assets 8,748
- Write-downs (losses on bad debts) 1,390 610
Total 10) 32,955 28,246
11) Changes in stocks of raw materials
- Opening stocks (excluding goods in transit) 36,925 44,169
- Changes in consolidation area, translation differences and reclassifications -3,495 -2,240
- Adjustment to provision for obsolescence 213 520
- Closing stocks (excluding goods in transit) -37,038 -36,925
Total 11) -3,395 5,524
12) Accruals for contingencies 392 218
13) Other accruals
- Product warranty 3,390 3,502
- Scheduled maintenance
- Other risks 604
Total 13) 3,390 4,106
14) Other operating charges
- Association dues 187 160
- Cost of institutional reporting of listed companies 148 178
- Taxes and other duties 804 787
- Ordinary losses 187 31
- Other operating charges 171 162
Total 14) 1,497 1,318
Total cost of production 376,441 377,981

Purchases of raw materials, consumables and goods rose from Euro 190.76m to Euro 204.93m. Considering also changes in stocks,
total consumption went from Euro 200.01m to Euro 197.58m, and was equal to 51.85% of sales versus 51.88% for FY 2001, without
significant changes overall.

The trend of the other production costs during the year, with reference to the most significant changes, may be summarised as follows:
– Cost of services went from Euro 66.21m (17.2% of sales) to Euro 64.30m (16.9% of sales), a small decrease both in absolute terms
and as a percentage of sales.
– Personnel costs decreased by Euro 8.65m (-11.74%) %) on a year earlier as a result of the programme of headcount reduction started
in 2001.
– Depreciation decreased as a result of lower capital expenditure in recent periods.
– Write-downs of fixed assets relate to the portion charged against income of the consolidation difference of the subsidiaries F.O.N.,
Fabryka Osi Napedowych S.A. (Euro 0.261m) and O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG (Euro 7.915m), in addition to write-downs of
plant and machinery for an amount of Euro 0.572m in Carraro Argentina S.A..

C) Financial income and charges

C15) Income from participating interests 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description FY 2002 FY 2001

Other income from participating interests 11 36
Total 11 36
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C16) Other financial income 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description FY 2002 FY 2001

a) from receivables recorded as fixed assets 96 34
c) from securities recorded as current assets 297 368
d) other financial income:
- from subsidiaries
- from associated companies 254 92
- from parent companies
Other:
- interest income on loans 44 55
- interest income on bank and postal deposits 940 1,163
- interest income from the Treasury 160 117
- other interest income 8,695 5,602
- income from hedging operations 375 37
- exchange gains 16,288 4,952
Total d) 26,756 12,018
Total 27,149 12,420

C17) Interest and other financial charges 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description FY 2002 FY 2001

Interest on loans to associated companies 14
Interest expense on bank deposits 800 3,462
Interest expense on bank overdrafts 2,067 2,078
Interest expense on loans 14,440 11,722
Interest expense on leases 74
Financial charges on hedging operations 17 512
Commission and other bank charges 223 177
Exchange losses 16,519 24,997
Other 266 1,019
Total 34,346 44,041

Net financial charges, the balance of lines C16 and C17, amounted to Euro 7.197m, versus Euro 31.62m for FY 2001.
Exchange losses of FY 2001 included Euro 19.20m generated by exchange adjustments of positions denominated in US dollars of
Carraro Argentina, posted as a result of the devaluation of the Argentine peso.
If we exclude net exchange losses (Euro 0.23m) and net income from hedging operations (Euro 0.36m), net financial charges totalled
Euro 7.32m, versus Euro 11.10m of FY 2001.
As a percentage of sales, financial charges less exchange losses were equal to 1.9%, versus 2.8% of FY 2001.

D) Adjustments to the value of financial assets 
The revaluation of equity interests of Euro 0.109m represents the contra entry in the income statement of the equity valuation of the
interest STM S.r.l. The write-down of Euro 0.260m relates to Agritalia S.p.A. (Euro 0.247) and Elcon S.r.l. (Euro 0.013m).

E) Extraordinary income and expenses

E20) Extraordinary income

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description FY 2002 FY 2001

Gains on disposal 724 14
Income from participating interests 61
Taxes of prior periods 191
Extraordinary income 1,103 250
Other extraordinary income 356 753
Total 1,459 1,003
Total E20) 2,244 1,208

‘Gains on disposal’ includes the gain of Euro 0.717m realised on the sale of the former Trenton business.
‘Extraordinary income’ relates to the Italian entities of the Group; among the most significant items were a refund from INAIL, the national
industrial accident insurance, to Carraro S.p.A. for an amount of Euro 0.178m; a reduction of the amount owed to Locat and provided for
as at 31 December 2001 due to the decision to forgo construction of new corporate headquarters, for an amount of Euro 0.312m; and
lower IRPEG and IRAP charges in respect of FY 2001, for an amount of Euro 0.279m.
‘Other extraordinary income’ relates to the foreign entities of the Group and includes Euro 0.225m booked by F.O.N. S.A. in relation to
charges provided for in prior periods.
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E21) Extraordinary expenses

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description 31 December 2002 31 December 2001

Losses on disposal 2
Taxes of prior periods 593 243
Extraordinary expenses 410 1,885
Other extraordinary expenses 2,685 4,356
Total 3,095 6,241
Total E21) 3,688 6,486

‘Other extraordinary expenses’ includes extraordinary costs to be incurred for the integration and completion of the personnel
reorganisation programme at O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG, for an amount of Euro 2.20m.

Income tax for the period

The tax charge for the period comprises the following: 

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description FY 2002 FY 2001

Current taxes 3,915 3,406
Deferred taxes -286 -9,207
Total 3,629 -5,801

The value of current taxes includes IRPEG of SIAP S.p.A., for an amount of Euro 0.714m; IRAP of Carraro S.p.A. for an amount of Euro
2.302m and of SIAP S.p.A. for an amount of Euro 0.603m; the substitute tax on the sale of the business of Carraro S.p.A., equal to Euro
0.194m; and withholding tax of Carraro International S.A. for an amount of Euro 0.102m.
Deferred taxes are the balance of deferred tax assets of Euro 0.114m and deferred tax liabilities of Euro 2.863m booked by the individual
entities, plus deferred tax assets of Euro 3.035m originating from consolidation entries.

Headcount

The number of employees shown below relates solely to the entities consolidated on a line-by-line basis and is broken down by category: 

Employee category 31 December 2001 Change in  Changes 31 December 2002
consolidation area

Executives 34 -1 33
Clerks 549 -68 481
Workers 1,592 -56 1,536
Temporary staff 12 39 51
Total 2,187 -86 2,101

The decrease in headcount reflects the implementation at Group companies of the restructuring plan for 2002.

Reconciliation with annual financial statements

A reconciliation between the profit for the period and net equity of the Group resulting from the consolidated financial statements and
the profit for the period and shareholders' equity of Carraro S.p.A. is as follows:

Amounts in thousand Euro

Description Profit/(Loss) for the Shareholders' equity Profit/(Loss) for the Shareholders' equity
current period current period prior period prior period

Profit for the period and shareholders' equity of Carraro S.p.A. -8,972 43,066 -17,147 52,037
Profit for the period and net equity of participating interests -16,696 71,377 -25,275 66,275
Aggregate -25,668 114,443 -42,422 118,312
Elimination of carrying value of participating interests 34,448 -68,721 22,954 -66,925
Consolidation adjustments -7,652 7,218 -4,148 14,862
Minority interests 748 -2,376 858 -4,725
Profit for the period and net equity of the Group 1,876 50,564 -22,758 61,524

Consolidation adjustments relate mostly to finance leases, to the determination of the ‘intercompany stock profit’, to the equity valuation
of associated companies and subsidiaries not included in the consolidation, and to value adjustments to goodwill, as well as to deferred
taxes on those entries.
These consolidated financial statements, comprising the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated income statement and the notes
thereto, present fairly the consolidated financial position and result of operations for the year ended 31 December 2002.
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To the Shareholders 
During the financial year ended 31 December 2002 we carried out the supervision activities prescribed by the law, according to the
principles of conduct of statutory auditors recommended by Consigli Nazionali dei Dottori Commercialisti e dei ragionieri (the
representative bodies of Italian professional accountants).
In particular, also in compliance with the indications given by Consob (the Italian Securities and Exchange Commission) on 6 April 2001,
we report what follows:
- We have supervised compliance with the law and the company’s articles of association.
- We have obtained information from the directors, at least quarterly, on the activity carried out and on operations with significant impact
on equity, cash flows and result of operations carried out by the company and by its subsidiaries. In this respect we can reasonably
assure that the actions resolved and taken were in compliance with the law and with the articles of association and were not manifestly
imprudent or risky, entailing potential conflict of interest or in contrast with the resolutions passed at shareholders’ meetings or of such
nature as to compromise the integrity of the company’s assets.
- We have obtained an understanding of and supervised – as far as our duties required us to – the adequacy of the company’s
organization structure, compliance with principles of correct administration, and the adequacy of the directions given by the company
to its subsidiaries pursuant to article 114, item 2, of Legislative Decree No. 58/98, by gathering information from the persons in charge
of organizational functions and in meetings with the external auditors for a mutual exchange of significant information and data, and
we have no particular findings to report in this respect.
- We have examined and supervised the adequacy of the internal control system and the administrative-accounting system and its
reliability for the purposes of giving a true and fair view of operations, by obtaining information from the persons in charge of the relevant
functions, by examining company documents and analysing the outcome of the work performed by the external auditors, and by
supervising the activity of the internal controllers, and we have no particular findings to report in this respect.
- We have met with representatives of the external auditors, pursuant to article 150, item 2, of Legislative Decree No. 58/98, and no
significant data or information emerged that should be reported herein. 
- Moreover, we noted the existence of transactions, both intercompany and with third parties, which in our opinion may be deemed to
be unusual and which are partly described in the directors’ report on operations.
In detail:
- Sales of the business relating to the manufacturing facility at Frassinoro (MO) (formerly Trenton S.r.l.) to Meccanica Fananese S.r.l..
- Subscription of a share capital increase in the associated company Agritalia S.p.A., for an amount of Euro 966,570.
- Acquisition of the 15% interest in Carraro India Ltd previously held by Simest S.p.A.. As a result of the acquisition, Carraro S.p.A.
currently owns a 51% share.
- No claims have been received pursuant to article 2408 of the Civil Code or have been brought by third parties.
- We have verified compliance by the company with the code of self-discipline drawn up by the Corporate Governance Committee of
listed companies.
- As resolved by the shareholders at the annual general meeting of 14 May 2002, as a result of the mergers that took place in the
previous year, the scope of the engagement assigned to PricewaterhouseCoopers SpA was expanded and amended.
- In the course of the year the external auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers SpA or parties related to them by ongoing business relations
rendered professional services for total fees of Euro 30,690. Those services relate to the Eurobond and to audit and reporting procedures
on the “Interest Coverage” related to the Eurobond, to consolidation accounting procedures, to audit procedures on financial statements
drawn up in English, and to audit procedures on the application of IAS 29 - Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies in the
financial statements as at 30 June 2002 of Carraro Argentina SA.
- In the course of the year we issued our opinion as prescribed by the law regarding the appointment of the external auditors. 
The supervision activity was performed during 11 meetings of the Board of statutory auditors (also through the presence of individual
members) and by attending 7 meetings of the Board of directors pursuant to article 149, item 2 of Legislative Decree No. 58/98.
During the supervision activity performed and according to information obtained from the external auditors, we did not detect any omissions
and/or illicit acts and/or irregularities or significant events of such nature to require reporting to the supervisory authorities or in this report.
Carraro S.p.A., as holding company, has drawn up and submits to the shareholders the group consolidated financial statements,
accompanied by the prescribed report and submitted for auditing to the appointed external auditors.
In consideration of the foregoing, we are in favour of approval of the financial statements as of 31 December 2002 and for the year then
ended as submitted by the directors and agree with the proposal of the latter to cover the loss for the period by utilisation of the merger
surplus reserve and of the extraordinary reserve.

The Board of statutory auditors

(Antonio Cortellazzo)

(Aldo Fontana)

(Francesco Secchieri)

Board of Auditors’ Report
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To the Shareholders of
Carraro SpA

1 We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Carraro SpA as of December 31, 2002. 
These financial consolidated statements are the responsibility of the directors of Carraro SpA. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based 
on our audit.

2 We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards and criteria recommended 
by CONSOB (the Italian Regulatory Commission for Companies and the Stock Exchange). 
Those standards and criteria require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain the necessary 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement and,
taken as a whole, are presented fairly. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the directors. We believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

For the opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the prior period, which are presented for 
comparative purposes as required by law, reference is made to our report dated April 19, 2002.

3 In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of Carraro SpA as of December 31, 2002 comply 
with the laws governing the criteria for their preparation; accordingly, they give a true and fair view 
of the consolidated financial position and of the consolidated results of operations of the company.

Padua, April 22, 2003

PricewaterhouseCoopers SpA 

Nicola Piovan
(Partner)

This report has been translated from the original which was issued in accordance with the Italian legislation.
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Ordinary and Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of Carraro SpA held on 14 May 2003

Chairman: Mario Carraro

Shareholders present: 14 in person or by means of proxy representing 54.423% of the share capital equating to 42 million ordinary
shares with voting rights.

The Shareholders’ Meeting approved for the extraordinary session:

- The amendments to Article 21 of the Articles of Association, taking the maximum number of Board members from nine to eleven.

The Shareholders’ Meeting approved for the ordinary session:

- The financial statements as of 31 December 2002 and the report of the Board of Directors;

- The coverage of the loss of Euro 8,971,680 for its entire amount as follows:

- with regard to Euro 2,951,387, by means of partial utilization of the extraordinary reserve;
- with regard to Euro 513,741, by means of total utilization of the contingent reserve pursuant to Article 55/597;
- with regard to Euro 5,506,552, by means of total utilization of the reserve for accelerated depreciation, proceeding with the
simultaneous re-establishment of the same via utilization of the share premium reserve.

- Appointment of the Board of Directors for the three-year period 2003/2005, subject to the determination of its number as nine:

- Mario Carraro
- Francesco Carraro
- Enrico Carraro
- Tomaso Carraro
- Gabriele Del Torchio
- Giorgio Brunetti
- Antonio Ceola
- Sergio Erede
- Onofrio Tonin

- The remuneration of the Directors for the year 2003 for a total of Euro 1,085,000 deferring to the Board of Directors the allocation,
on the basis of the effective appointments and functions carried out by the Directors.

- The appointment of the Board of Statutory Auditors and its Chairman for the three-year period 2003-2005, having ensured the
minority shareholders the election of one Acting Auditor and one Alternate Auditor, and the determination of the related remuneration.
- Acting members:
Antonio Cortellazzo – Chairman
Francesco Secchieri 
Renzo Lotto 
- Alternate members:
Fabrizio Pinato 
Giuseppe Attardo Parrinello 

- Remuneration: Euro 22,500 for the Chairman and Euro 15,000 for each of the two Acting Auditors.

65



Carraro SpA 
Campodarsego headquarter and plant 
Via Olmo, 37
35011 Campodarsego
(Pd) Italy
t +39 0499219111
f +39 0499289111
www.carraro.com

Gorizia plant 
Via Brigata Casale, 70 
34170 Gorizia, Italy
t +39 0481597711
f +39 048134055

SIAP SpA
Maniago headquarter and plant 
Via Monfalcone, 4
33085 Maniago
(Pn) Italy
t +39 0427706911
f +39 0427706935

Poggiofiorito plant 
Contrada Mortella, 64
66030 Poggiofiorito
(Ch) Italy
t +39 0871938111
f +39 0871938719

STM Srl 
Via Monfalcone, 4
33085 Maniago
(Pn) Italy
t +39 0427706911
f +39 0427706955

Carraro International S.A.
Boulevard du Prince Henri, 31
L-1724 Luxembourg
t +352 229771
f +352 229771832

O&K Antriebstechnik
GmbH & Co KG
Nierenhofer Str. 10
D-45525 Hattingen
Germany
t +49 2324 2051
f +49 2324 205401

Carraro North America Inc.
2118 Hwy. 41, Southeast
Calhoun, Georgia
30701 USA
t +1 706 625 2460
f +1 706 625 3321

Carraro India Ltd.
B2/2 MIDC Ind. Area
Ranjangaon
412 210 Pune
India
t +91 2138 232101/2/3/4
f +91 2138 232136

Carraro Argentina S.A.
Valentín Gómez 577
1706 Haedo, Buenos Aires
Argentina
t +54 1144 833220
f +54 1144 833221

Carraro Korea Co., Ltd.
821-1 YounAm-dong Buk-gu
Ulsan 683 - 804
South Korea 
t +82 52 289 8760
f +82 52 289 8766

Fabryka Osi Napedowych S.A.
Ul. l. Krasickiego 63/71
97-500 Radomsko
Poland
t +48 44 6821471
f +48 44 6821480
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eBoy
The illustrations for the 2002 Report and Balance Sheet have been done by
eBoy, a creative group among the foremost exponents of Pixel Art. Steffen
Sauerteig, Kai Vermehr, Svend Smital and Peter Stemmler — the eBoy team —
have come up with a free, original and quintessentially digital interpretation of
the Carraro manufacturing environment. 
It is a textured, pixelized visualization of spaces peopled by robots and circuits,
automatons and machines all connected in repeated images. The factory is
transformed, becoming almost a videogame; a meeting of pop culture, Lego
and digital dimension. And all very much in line with eBoy imagery, famous for
its “eCity” digital urban environments brought to life by a variety of characters,
monsters and automobiles and its numerous references to the media, televi-
sion and advertising spots.
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